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Sri Ramakrishna in samadhi during a kirtan at Keshab Sen's house
in Calcutta. He is surrounded by Brahmo devotees, with
Hriday, his nephew, supporting him.

(Photo taken on September 21, 1879)
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Preface

Once a Catholic woman said to me that she had been regularly attending
Mass for the last twenty-five years but was not experiencing any joy. She
expressed a desire to learn the technique of Vedantic meditation without
changing her religious faith. Observing her sincerity I told her: "Please
practise meditation twice a day. There are various kinds of meditation,
such as meditation on the form of God, on his divine qualities, on his
message, or on his divine play. The infinite God takes a finite human form
and plays in this world like one of us so that we can feel his presence and
get a glimpse of his infinite nature. This is not a myth. It is a fact. The
lives of Buddha, Christ, and Ramakrishna prove it. Human beings see
these God-men or avatars with their eyes, hear their voices with their ears,
touch their physical forms with their hands.

"If you want to feel the presence of God quickly," I told her, "practise
meditation on the lila, or divine play, of God-men. Please close your eyes
and mentally visualize Christ walking through the street. The multitude is
following him. He enters the house of Simon. Mary Magdalene, a fallen
woman, washes the feet of Jesus with her tears and then wipes them dry
with her long hair. She opens an alabaster box and anoints his feet with
scented ointment. The compassionate Christ blesses Mary, putting his
hands on her head. It is a small episode in Christ's life. Try to visualize
these scenes, one after another. Go slowly. Until the first scene has taken
a luminous form in your mind, don't go to the next scene. After visual-
izing the entire episode, look at your clock. You will see that you have
lived with Christ for twenty minutes, forgetting space, time, and causa-
tion. This is called meditation on the lila, or the divine play, of the Lord."
Truly we know very little about the personal or public life of Christ or
Buddha. We read their messages in the Bible and the Tripitakas, but
the message is not enough. When people get interested in the message,
they want to know more about the messenger, and this is how they
establish a relationship with him. So we try to get firsthand detailed
information about him. We want to know about his surroundings, his
relatives and friends, his daily routine, what kind of food he eats, how

9



10 RAMAKRISHNA AS WE SAW HIM

he acts with people. We want all the details, from his sense of humour to his
method of teaching.

But God-men do not write about themselves. They are content to live
their great lives and let others explain how their lives were led. Sri
Ramakrishna did not like publicity at all. He specifically forbade one of
his disciples to write his biography during his lifetime, saying that if it
were published, his body would not last. Once Keshab Chandra Sen said
to Sr1i Ramakrishna: "Sir, if you permit, I want to make your message
known to the public. It will definitely do good to the people and bring
peace to the world." Sri Ramakrishna replied in an ecstatic mood: "It is
not the right time to spread the message of this place [meaning, his
message] through lecturing and newspapers. The power and ideas which
are within this body will automatically spread all over in the course of
time. Hundreds of Himalayas will not be able to suppress that power."
He then went into samadhi.

Romain Rolland, the great French writer, wrote in the beginning of his book
The Life of Ramakrishna: "1 am bringing to Europe, as yet unaware of it, the
fruit of a new autumn, a new message of the Soul, the symphony of India,
bearing the name of Ramakrishna........ The man whose image I here evoke
was the consummation of two thousand years of the spiritual life of three
hundred million people."

Once Swami Vivekananda, the foremost disciple of Sri Ramakrishna, said,
"It was not the words of Sri Ramakrishna but the life he lived that was
wanted, and that is yet to be written." I have tried to uncover that hidden
personal life by translating and editing these precious reminiscences,
which were either written or told by the Master's relatives, disciples, and
admirers. Some of these people lived with him twenty-four hours a day
and others stayed with him occasionally. These people actually witnessed
the Master's divine play, and they left these wonderful reminiscences for
future generations so that every detail of his God-intoxicated life would be
available to us. Readers will find much information about Sri Ramakrishna
in this book, and it could be considered a sequel to The Gospel of Sri
Ramakrishna and Sri Ramakrishna, The Great Master.

For the last several years I have done extensive research and collected
these spiritual treasures for my personal meditation and also because I
strongly believe they will help many people. At the end of each section
the sources are given. Also, for the sake of readability and uniformity, I
have edited some of the materials from Sri Ramakrishna, The Great
Master and other books and magazines. In a few places the same story
was told by different people, but I did not eliminate the repetition because
it would have disrupted the continuity of thought.
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Materials were collected from so many sources that it is difficult to
mention each publisher's name. However, I thankfully acknowledge

these important ones: Advaita Ashrama (Calcutta), Ramakrishna Math (
Madras), Udbodhan (Calcutta), Ramakrishna Vedanta Math (Calcutta),
Vedanta Press (Hollywood), Ramakrishna-Vivekananda Center (New
York), Ananda Ashrama (Cohasset), Srima Trust (Chandigarh), General
Printers and Publishers (Calcutta), and Karuna Prakashani (Calcutta).

I am grateful to the Vedanta students who helped edit and type the
manuscript.

Finally, I must mention one thing: While working on this project, this verse
of the Gita (12.8) arose in my mind again and again: "Fix your mind on me
alone, rest your thought on me alone, and in me alone you will live here
after. Of this there is no doubt." What a wonderliii reassurance! To me it is
God's promise to all of us.

Chetanananda
St. Louis, U.S.A.



Sr1 Ramakrishna in samadhi

(Photo taken at the studio of the Bengal Photographers,
Calcutta, on December 10, 1881)



Sri Ramakrishna

Blessed is the country where Sri Ramakrishna was born, blessed are the
parents who took care of the Divine Child, blessed are the people who,
without seeing him, have inherited his invaluable spiritual legacy, and
thrice blessed are the few who saw him, heard his words, touched him,
talked with him, and lived with him. "In the life of Ramakrishna, the
Man-God," wrote Romain Rolland, "I am about to relate the life of this
Jacob's ladder, whereon the twofold unbroken life of the Divine in man
ascends and descends between heaven and earth."

Sri Ramakrishna was born on February 18, 1836, in Kamarpukur, a
small village sixty miles northwest of Calcutta. His father, Khudiram
Chattopadhyay, and mother, Chandramani, were very devoted to God,
and both had visions about their son before he was born. Sri Rama-
krishna grew up in Kamarpukur and was sent to the village school
where he learned to read and write, but he soon lost interest in this

bread-earning education."

When he was six or seven years old he had his first superconscious
experience. "One morning," he recalled in later life, "I took some puffed
rice in a small basket and was eating it while I walked along the narrow
ridges of the rice fields. In one part of the sky a beautiful black cloud
appeared, heavy with rain. I was watching it and eating the rice. Very soon
the cloud covered almost the whole sky. And then a flock of cranes came
flying. They were as white as milk against that black cloud. It was so

beautiful that I became absorbed in the sight. Then I lost consciousness of
everything outward. I fell down and the rice was scattered over the ground.
Some people saw this and came and carried me home."

Khudiram died in 1843. Sri Ramakrishna keenly felt the loss of his

father and became more indrawn and meditative. Sometimes he used to
go to the nearby cremation ground alone and practise spiritual disci-
plines there. He also visited the rest house in the village where pilgrims,
especially monks, would stop on their way to Puri. He learned from
them many songs and prayers. There were, moreover, some friends with
whom he played, and together they often sang and acted out religious

13
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14 RAMAKRISHNA AS WE SAW HIM

dramas. When he was nine years old, following the brahminical tradi-
tion, he was invested with the sacred thread, which allowed him to
perform ritualistic worship. Gradually he began to help the household
by conducting the worship of the family deities.

Sr1 Ramakrishna moved to Calcutta in 1852 to assist his elder brother,
Ramkumar, who was conducting a school and performing ritualistic

worship in private homes for a living. On May 31, 1855, Ramkumar
officiated at the dedication ceremony of the Kali temple of Dakshine-
swar, which had been founded by Rani Rasmani, a wealthy woman of
Calcutta. Sr1 Ramakrishna was present on that occasion. Soon after this
he moved to Dakshineswar, which was just a few miles north of Calcutta,
and in time he became a priest in the temple.

Sri Ramakrishna now began his spiritual journey in earnest. While

performing the worship of the Divine Mother, he questioned: "Are you
true, Mother, or is it all a fabrication of my mind mere poetry without
reality? If you do exist, why can't I see you?" As days passed, Sri

Ramakrishna's yearning for God became more and more intense, and he
prayed and meditated almost twenty-four hours a day. One day he became
desperate. As he later described it: "In my agony I said to myself, "What
is the use of this life?' Suddenly my eyes fell on the sword that hangs in
the temple. I decided to end my life with it then and there. Like a

madman I ran to it and seized it. And then — I had a marvellous vision of
the Mother and fell down unconscious."

After this it was not possible for Sri Ramakrishna to continue the
worship in the temple. His relatives thought that he had become mad, so
they brought him back to Kamarpukur and arranged his marriage. In
1859 he was married to Sarada Mukhopadhyay, a young girl from the
neighbouring village of Jayrambati. Sri Ramakrishna returned to Dak-
shineswar in 1860 and was again caught up in a spiritual tempest. He
forgot his home, wife, family, body, and surroundings. He once de-
scribed his experiences of that period:

No sooner had I passed through one spiritual crisis than another took its
place. It was like being in the midst of a whirlwind even my sacred
thread was blown away. I could seldom keep hold of my dhoti [cloth].
Sometimes I would open my mouth, and it would be as if my jaws reached
from heaven to the underworld. "Mother!" I would cry desperately. I felt I
had to pull her in, as a fisherman pulls in fish with his dragnet. A
prostitute walking the street would appear to me to be Sita, going to meet
her victorious husband. An English boy standing cross-legged against a
tree reminded me of the boy Krishna, and I lost consciousness. Sometimes
I would share my food with a dog. My hair
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became matted. Birds would perch on my head and peck at the grains of
rice which had lodged there during the worship. Snakes would crawl over
my motionless body.

An ordinary man couldn't have borne a quarter of that tremendous
fervour; it would have burnt him up. I had no sleep at all for six long
years. My eyes lost the power of winking. I stood in front of a mirror
and tried to close my eyelids with my finger and I couldn't! I got
frightened and said to Mother: "Mother, is this what happens to those
who call on you? I surrendered myself to you, and you gave me this
terrible disease!" I used to shed tears — but then, suddenly, I'd be
filled with ecstasy. I saw that my body didn't matter — it was of no
importance, a mere trifle. Mother appeared to me and comforted me
and freed me from my fear.

Bhairavi Brahmani, a Tantric nun, came to Dakeshineswar in 1861 and
initiated Sri Ramakrishna into tantra sadhana [disciplines]. Later he
practised vatsalya bhava [the attitude of a parent towards the Divine
Child] under Jatadhari, a Vaishnava monk, and after that, madhura
bhava [the attitude of a lover towards the Divine Beloved]. Again, in
1864 he was initiated into sannyasa [monastic vows] by Tota Puri, a
Vedanta monk, and he attained nirvikalpa samadhi, the culmination of
spiritual practices. In that state the aspirant realizes his oneness with
Brahman, the Ultimate Reality.

In 1866 Sri Ramakrishna practised Islam under the guidance of a Sufi
named Govinda Roy. He later told his disciples: "I devoutly repeated the
name of Allah, and I said their prayers five times a day. I spent three
days in that mood, and I had the full realization of the sadhana of their
faith." Furthermore, in 1874 he had a vision of the Madonna and the
Child Jesus in the parlour of Jadu Mallik's garden house in Dakshine-
swar. A few days later, while walking in the Panchavati, he saw a
foreign-looking person coming towards him. The man had a beautiful
face with large, brilliant eyes. As Sri Ramakrishna pondered who this
stranger could be, a voice within said: "This is Jesus Christ, the great
yogi, the loving son of God, who was one with his Father, and who shed
his heart's blood and suffered tortures for the salvation of mankind."
Jesus then embraced Sri Ramakrishna and merged into his body. Thus,
after realizing God in different religions, Sri Ramakrishna proclaimed, "
As many faiths, so many paths."

Sri Ramakrishna met many well-known people of his time, such as
Michael Madhusudan Datta, Devendra Nath Tagore, Dayananda Sara-
swati, Ishwar Chandra Vidyasagar, Dr. Mahendralal Sarkar , Bankim
Chatterjee, Joseph Cook, Mr. Williams, Mr. Missir, and others. In 1875
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Sri Ramakrishna met Keshab Chandra Sen, a leader of the Brahmo

Samaj. Many people learned about the saint of Dakshineswar through
Keshab's writings in the Brahmo journals. Between 1879 and 1885 the

monastic and lay disciples came to Sri Ramakrishna. He trained them so
that they could carry on his mission, and he made Swami Vivekananda
their leader.

Sri Ramakrishna's message to the modern world was: "Do not care for
doctrines; do not care for dogmas or sects or churches or temples. They
count for little compared with the essence of existence in each man,

which is spirituality; and the more a man develops it, the more power he
has for good. Earn that first, acquire that, and criticize no one; for all the
doctrines and creeds have some good in them. Show by your lives that
religion does not mean words or names or sects, but that it means

spiritual realization."

When the flower blooms, bees come of their own accord. People from all
over came to Sri Ramakrishna, and he sometimes would talk about God
as much as twenty hours a day. This continued for years. His intense love
for humanity would not allow him to refuse to help anyone. In the middle
of 1885 this tremendous physical strain resulted in throat cancer. When
his disciples tried to stop him from teaching, he said: "I do not care. I
will give up twenty thousand such bodies to help one man."

Sri Ramakrishna passed away on August 16, 1886, at a garden house in
Cossipore, a suburb of Calcutta. Romain Rolland stated: "The man

himself was no more. His spirit had departed to travel along the path of
collective life in the veins of humanity."
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Sri Sarada Devi at the age of forty-five
(Photo taken at Calcutta in 1898)
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Sri Sarada Devi

Sri Sarada Devi (1853-1920), also called Holy Mother, was the spiritual consort
of Sri Ramakrishna. She was married to him at an early age, and when she was
eighteen years old she came to the temple garden of Dakshineswar to live near
him and serve him. Because of her long and close association zvith the Master,
her reminiscences are especially valu- able. After his passing away she continued
the spiritual ministry which he began.

The Source

The Master used to say that his body had come from Gaya. When his
mother passed away he asked me to offer pindam. [funeral cakes] at Gaya.
I replied that I was not entitled to perform those rites when the son
himself was alive. The Master replied: "No, no, you are entitled to do it.
Under no circumstances can I go to Gaya. If I go, do you think it will be
possible for me to return?"! So I did not want him to go there. And later

on I performed the rites at Gaya.

The Master, a Perfectionist

When the Master came to Kamarpukur with indigestion I was only a
child-wife. He would get up while it was still rather dark and say to me,
"Prepare such-and-such dishes for me tomorrow," and we used to cook
them for him. One day we ran out of a particular kind of spice and
Lakshmi's mother [Sr1i Ramakrishna's sister-in-law] said: "Well then,
carry on without it. Since we haven't got it, what else can we do?" The
Master overheard this conversation and said: "What do you mean? If

Tradition has it that Sri Ramakrishna's birth was preceded by a vision his father had at
Gaya of Vishnu, who announced that he would be born as his son. Hence, the spiritual
association Sri Ramakrishna had with Gaya was likely to overwhelm him if he went there.
Gaya is also associated with Buddha and Chaitanya as the turning point in their lives.

19



20 RAMAKRISHNA AS WE SAW HIM

you are out of that spice, why do you not send somebody to buy a pice
worth? One should not omit things that are necessary. Don't you know
that it is for this particular flavouring in your curries that I left the
delicious dishes and the thickened milk of Dakshineswar and came
here? And now you want to leave out the flavouring!" Lakshmi's mother
felt ashamed and immediately sent for the spices.

Cooking for the Master

One day the Master and Hriday [Ramakrishna's nephew] were eating
together. Lakshmi's mother and I would cook at Kamarpukur. She was
an excellent cook. The Master tasted something she had prepared and
remarked, "Hridu, the person who cooked this is a specialist." Then he
ate something that I had cooked and said, "And this one is a quack." At
this Hriday replied: "True, but the quack is at hand and you have only
to call her, whereas the specialist is very expensive and not always
available. The quack is at your beck and call at all times." The Master
said: "Quite right. She is always there."

One day at Dakshineswar the Master asked me to cook something nice
for Naren. I prepared moog dal [a type of lentil] and chapatis |
unleavened bread]. After the meal he asked Naren, "How did you like it?
" Naren replied, "Quite nice, just like invalid's food." Then the Master
said to me: "What was that you cooked for him? Next time prepare chana
dal and thicker chapatis for him." And I did so. Naren ate it and was
highly pleased.

An Ideal Husband

The Master said about me: "Her name 1s Sarada. She is Saraswati [the
goddess of learning]. That is why she loves to adorn herself." He said to
Hriday: "Go and see how much money there is in your chest. Have a pair
of beautiful armlets made for her." The Master was ill at that time, and
yet he had those armlets made at a cost of three hundred rupees. But he
would not touch money himself.

My mother would grieve, "I have married my Sarada to such a crazy
husband that she can't enjoy ordinary married life or have any children
and hear them call her mother." One day the Master heard her and said:
"Don't grieve over that, Mother. Your daughter will have so many
children, you will see, that her ears will ache at hearing the cry of '
Mother." He was quite right. Whatever he said has come to pass.

The Master was interested in nothing but God. When 1 asked him
what I should do with the saris, conchshell bangles, and other things
with which he had worshipped me when he performed the Shodashi
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Puja,> he said after a little thought, "Well, you can give them to your
own mother" — my father was still living — "but be careful that when
making the gifts, you don't look upon her as your personal mother but
as the Mother of the Universe." I did so. Such was his teaching.

The Master's Manners and Thoughtfulness

How kind was the Master's behaviour to me! He never spoke a single
word that could hurt me. One day at Dakshineswar I carried his food to
his room and, thinking it was Lakshmi [his niece], he said, "Shut the door
as you go out," addressing me familiarly as mi. I replied, "All right."
Hearing my voice, he was startled and cried: "Oh, it is you! I thought it
was Lakshmi. Please don't mind." I answered, "What does it matter?" He
never showed any disrespect towards me, and he was always most
considerate of my welfare.

One day he brought me some strands of jute and said: "Twist these into
hangers for me, please. I want to keep sweets and luchis [fried bread] in
them for the boys." I made the hangers for him and used the leftover rough
fibres as stuffing for a pillow. I placed a mat over some sackcloth and
slept with this jute pillow under my head. I slept no worse then than

I do now with these fine mattresses and pillows. There is no difference.

Sri Ramakrishna's Childlike Nature

When the Master was staying at Dakshineswar, Rakhal [Swami Brah-
mananda] and other devotees were very young. One day Rakhal came to
the Master and said that he was very hungry. The Master went to the
Ganga and cried out: "Oh Gaurdasi, come here! My Rakhal is hungry."
At that time there was no refreshment stall at Dakshineswar. A little later
a boat was seen coming up the Ganga. It anchored at the temple ghat.
Balaram Babu, Gaurdasi, and some other devotees came out of the boat
with some rasagollas [sweet cheese balls]. The Master was very happy
and shouted for Rakhal. He said: "Come here. Here are sweets. You said
you were hungry." Rakhal became angry and remarked, "Why are you
broadcasting my hunger?" The Master said: "What is the harm? You are
hungry. You want something to eat. What is wrong in speaking about it?
" The Master had a childlike nature. *3

2
This refers to the occasion when the Master worshipped Holy Mother as a manifestation

of the Divine Mother.

> In the Bengali language there are three forms of the second personal pronoun. When
addressing a revered elder, apani is used. To a person of equal rank and age, one says tunti.
But the familiar form, fui, is used only when speaking to juniors or servants. Thus it would
have been considered disrespectful had the Master knowingly addressed Holy Mother in
this manner.


1
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Rakhal's Parents

The Master said to Rakhal's father, "A good apple tree begets only good
apples." In this way he would satisfy him. When Rakhal's father would
come to Dakshineswar the Master would carefully feed him delicious
things. The Master was afraid that he would take the boy away. Rakhal
had a stepmother. When she would come to Dakshineswar the Master
used to tell Rakhal: "Show her everything. Take good care of her so that
she will think her son loves her dearly."

Vrinda, the Maidservant

Vrinda was by no means an easy woman. A fixed number of luchis [

fried bread] was set aside for her refreshment. She would be extremely
abusive if that was found wanting. She would say: "Look at these sons

of gentlemen! They have eaten my share also. I do not get even a few
sweets."

The Master was afraid lest those words should reach the ears of the

young devotees. One day, early in the morning, he came to the nahabat

[the concert tower, where Holy Mother lived] and said: "Well, I have
given Vrinda's luchis to others. Please prepare some for her. Otherwise

she will become abusive. One must avoid wicked persons."

As soon as Vrinda came I said to her: "Well, Vrinda, there is no refreshment
for you today. I am just preparing luchis." She said: "That's all right. Please
do not take the trouble. You may give me raw foodstuffs." I gave her hour,
butter, potatoes, and other vegetables.

The Red Flower

Once at Dakshineswar a girl named Asha picked a beautiful red flower
from a bush which had very dark leaves. Holding the flower she wept
and kept saying: "What is this! Why should such a lovely red flower
have such dark leaves? O Lord, how wonderful is your creation!" Seeing
her tears, the Master asked: "What is the matter? Why are you weeping?
" She was quite unable to explain but continued to cry until the Master
comforted her with many words.

An Appreciation

One day while living at Dakshineswar I made a big garland of seven
strands with some jasmine and red flowers [rangan or ixora]. I soaked
the garland in water in a stone bowl and the buds quickly turned into
full blossoms. I then sent the garland to the Kali temple to adorn the
image of the Divine Mother. The ornaments were taken off Kali's body
and she was decorated with the garland.



Sri Sarada Devi 23

The Master came to the temple. He at once fell into an ecstatic mood
seeing the beauty of Kali so much enhanced by the flowers. Again and
again he said: "Ah! These flowers are nicely set off against the dark
complexion of the Divine Mother! Who made the garland?" Someone
mentioned me. He said, "Go and bring her to the temple." As I came near
the steps I found some of the men devotees there — Balaram Babu,
Suren Babu, and others. I felt extremely bashful and became anxious to
hide myself. I took shelter behind the maid Vrinda, and was about to go
up to the temple by the back steps. The Master immediately noticed this
and called out: "Don't use those steps. The other day a fisherwoman was
climbing those steps and slipped. She had a terrible accident and frac-
tured her bones. Come by these front steps." The devotees heard those
words and made room for me. I entered the temple and found the Master
singing, his voice trembling with love and devotion.

The Master's Compassion

A man had a mistress. One day the woman came to the Master and said
with repentance: "That man ruined me. Then he robbed me of my money
and jewellery." The Master was aware of the innermost contents of
people's minds, but still he wanted to hear everything from their own
lips. He said to the woman: "Is it true? But he used to give us grand talks
about devotion." In the end the woman confessed to him all her sins and
was thus released from their evil effects.

God and Mammon

What is there in money, my child? The Master could not touch it. His
hand would recoil at the touch of money. He said to Ramlal [Sri Rama-
krishna's nephew]: "This world is illusory. Had I known it to be other-
wise, I would have covered your Kamarpukur village with leaves of
gold. But I know the world is impermanent. God alone is real."

Divine Help

Blood dysentery is not a trifling disease. The Master would often be
down with it, especially during the rainy season. At one time he was
rather seriously ill. I was attending on him. A woman from Varanasi had
recently come to Dakshineswar, and she suggested a remedy. I followed
her directions and the Master was soon cured. After this the woman
could not be found. I never met her again. She had really helped me a
great deal. I inquired about her at Varanasi but could not find her. We
often saw that whenever the Master required something, people would
come of themselves to Dakshineswar and then disappear just as sud-
denly.
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A Ghost Story

One day the Master went to Beni Pal's garden house [in Sinthi] with
Rakhal. He was strolling in the garden when a spirit came to him and
said: "Why did you come here? We are being scorched. We cannot
endure your presence. Leave this place at once." How could it stand his
purity and blazing holiness? The Master walked away with a smile and
did not disclose it to anybody.

Immediately after supper he asked someone to call for a carriage, though
it had been previously arranged that he would spend the night there. A
carriage was brought and he returned to Dakshineswar that very night.
Hearing the sound of the carriage near the gate, | strained my ears and
heard the Master speaking with Rakhal. I was startled. I thought: "I do
not know if he has taken his supper. If not, where can I get food at this
late hour?" I always kept something in store for him, at least farina. He
sometimes asked for food at odd hours. But I was quite sure of his not
coming back that night and so my store was empty. All the gates of the
temple garden were barred and locked. It was one o'clock in the
morning. He clapped his hands and began to repeat the names of God,
and after a while someone opened the gate. Meanwhile I was anxiously
thinking about what to do in case he was hungry. As he came in he
shouted to me: "Don't be anxious about my food. I have finished my
supper." Then he narrated to Rakhal the story of the ghost. Rakhal was
startled and said: "Dear me! It was really wise of you not to have told
me about it at that time. Otherwise my teeth would have been set on
edge through fear. Even now I am seized with fear."

The Picture of Sri Ramakrishna

Several prints were made of the Master's first photograph. The brah-min
cook took one of them. The picture was at first very dark, just like the
image of Kali, and therefore it was given to the brahmin. When he left
Dakshineswar for some place — I do not remember where — he gave it
to me. I kept the photograph with the pictures of other gods and
goddesses and worshipped it. At that time I lived on the ground floor of
the nahabat. One day the Master came there, and at the sight of the
picture he said, "Hello, what is all this?" Lakshmi and I had been cooking
under the staircase. Then I saw the Master take in his hand the bel leaves
and flowers kept there for worship and offer them to the photograph. He
worshipped the picture. This is the same picture. That brahmin never
returned, so the picture remained with me.*

4 This picture is now in the shrine of Holy Mother's house, Udbodhan, Calcutta.
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What Did the Master Look Like?

His complexion was like the colour of gold like that of harital [a
yellow orpiment]. It blended with the colour of the gold amulet which
he wore on his arm. When I rubbed him with oil I could clearly see a
lustre coming out of his entire body. People looked at him wonderstruck
when he went with slow, steady steps to the Ganga to take his bath. And
when he came out of his room at the temple, people stood in line and
said to one another, "Ah, there he goes!" It also happened at Kamar-
pukur. Men and women looked at him with mouths agape whenever he
chanced to come out of his house. One day he went for a walk in the
direction of the canal known as Bhutir Khal. The women who had gone
there to fetch water stared at him and said, "There goes the Master!" The
Master was annoyed at this and said to Hriday, "Well, Hridu, please put
a veil over my head at once."

The Master was fairly stout. Mathur Babu had given him a low stool on
which to sit. It was rather wide, but it was not quite big enough to hold him
comfortably when he sat cross-legged on it to eat his meals.

I never saw the Master sad. He was joyous in the company of everyone,
whether a boy of five or an old man. I never saw him morose, my child.
Ah, what happy days those were! At Kamarpukur he would get up early
in the morning and tell me: "Today I shall eat this particular dish. Please
cook it for me." With the other women of the family I would arrange his
meal accordingly. After a few days he said: "What has come over me?
The moment I get up from sleep I say: 'What shall I eat? What shall I eat?
" Then he said to me: "I have no desire for any particular food. I shall eat
whatever you cook for me."

What a Detached Mind!

One day Hazra said to the Master: "Why do you constantly long for
Narendra and the other youngsters? They are quite happy by them-
selves, eating, drinking, and playing. You had better fix your mind on
God. Why should you be attached to them?" At these words the Master
took his mind away from the young disciples completely and merged it
in the thought of God. Instantly he entered into samadhi. His beard and
hair stood straight on end like the kadamba flower. Just imagine what
kind of a man the Master was! His body became hard like a wooden
statue. Ramlal, who was attending on him, said repeatedly, "Please be
your former self again." At last his mind came down to the normal
plane. It was only out of compassion for people that he kept his mind on
the material plane.
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Sri Ramakrishna's Renunciation

Once there was a mistake in the accounts relating to the Master's
salary. I asked him to talk to the manager of the temple about it, but he
said: "What a shame! Shall I bother myself about accounts?" Once he
said to me: "He who utters the name of God never suffers from any
misery. No need to speak about you!" These are his very words.
Renunciation was héks ornament.

You will gain everything if you but take refuge in the Master. Renun-
ciation alone was his splendour. We utter his name and eat and enjoy
things because he renounced all. People think that his devotees also must
be very great, as he was a man of such complete renunciation.

Ah, me! One day he came to my room in the nahabat. He had no spices in
his small bag. He used to chew them now and then. I gave him some to
chew there and also handed over to him a few packed in paper to take to
his room. He then left, but instead of going to his room, he went straight
to the embankment of the Ganga. He did not see the way, nor was he
conscious of it. He was repeating, "Mother, shall I drown myself?" 1
became restless with agony. The river was full to the brim. I was then a
young woman and would not go out of my room, and I could not see
anyone around. Whom could I send to him? At last I found a brahmin
belonging to the Kali temple coming in the direction of my room.
Through him I called Hriday, who was then taking his meal. He left his
plate, ran to the Master, caught hold of him, and brought him back to his
room. A moment more and he would have dropped into the Ganga.

Because I put a few spices in his hand he could not find his way. A holy
man must not lay things by. His renunciation was one hundred percent.

Once a Vaishnava monk came to the Panchavati. At first he showed a great
deal of renunciation. But, alas, finally like a rat, he began to pull and gather
various things pots, cups, jar, grain, rice, pulses, and so forth. The
Master noticed it and said one day: "Poor thing! This time he is going to be
ruined!" He was about to be entangled in the snare of maya. The Master
advised him strongly about renunciation, and further, asked him to leave
the place. Then he went away.

The Master's Love for the Devotees

Once Balaram's wife was ill. The Master said to me, "Go to Calcutta and
visit her." "How can I go?" I said. "I don't see any carriage or other
conveyance here." The Master replied in an excited voice: "What!
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Balaram's family is in such trouble and you hesitate to go! You will walk to
Calcutta. Go on foot." At last a palanquin was brought and I set out from
Dakshineswar. Twice I visited her during her illness. On another occasion |
went on foot at night from Shyampukur.

The younger Naren used to come to the Master. He was thin and dark, with
pockmarks on his face, and the Master was very fond of him. When Patu and
Manindra came to see the Master, they were very young, about ten or eleven
years old. Once at the Cossipore garden during the Holi festival [a spring
festival associated with Krishna] everybody had gone out to play with abir
[red powder], but these two would not go. They began to fan the Master,
changing hands frequently. They were so young that they could not manage it.
They also massaged the Master's legs. The Master had a cough, so his head
ached and he needed constant fanning. He kept saying to them: "Go away
now. Go downstairs and play with abir. Everybody has gone." But Patu said:
"No, sir, we are not going. We are staying here. How can we go away and leave
you?"

They refused to go. The Master could not check his tears. He said: "Oh, my
dear, they are my Ramlala [the child Ramachandra], here to take care of me.
They are mere children, but they will not leave me, even to enjoy
themselves!"

The Meaning of the Master's Suffering

At the time of his illness, the Master expressed a desire to eat an amlaki fruit.
Durga Charan procured some after searching for three days without any food or
sleep. The Master then asked him to take his meal, and he himself took some
rice in order that the food would be prasad. I said to the Master: "You are
taking rice quite well. Why, then, should your meal consist only of farina
pudding? You should take rice rather than pudding.” "No, no," he said. "I would
rather take farina during these last days of my life." It was such unbearable
suffering for him to eat even the farina! Every now and then he would throw
it out through his nose.

The Master used to say: "I have been suffering for all of you. I have taken upon
myself the miseries of the whole world." The Master suffered as he had taken
on himself the sins of Girish.

The Effect of Karma

Karma [action] alone is responsible for our misery and happiness. Even the
Master had to suffer from the effect of karma. Once his elder brother was
drinking water while delirious. The Master snatched the glass out of his hand
after he had drunk just a little. The brother became angry and said: "You have
stopped me from drinking water. You will
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also suffer likewise. You will also feel such pain in your throat." The
Master said: "Brother, I did not mean to injure you. You are ill. Water
will harm you. That is why I have taken the glass away. Why have you,
then, cursed me in this manner?" The brother said, weeping: "I do not
know, Brother. Those words have come from my mouth. They cannot but
bear fruit." At the time of his illness the Master told me, "I have got this
ulcer in my throat because of that curse." I said to him in reply, "How can
a person possibly live if such a thing as this can happen to you?" The
Master remarked: "My brother was a righteous man. His words must
come true. Can the words of anyone and everyone be thus fulfilled?"

The result of karma is inevitable. But by repeating the name of God
you can lessen its intensity. If you were destined to have a wound as
wide as a ploughshare, you will get a pinprick at least. The effect of
karma can be counteracted to a great extent by japam and austerities.

An Accident

The Master used to have great fun with the boys. Naren [Swami
Vivekananda] and Baburam [Swami Premananda] would roll on the
ground with sidesplitting laughter. Once while living in the Cossipore
garden I was climbing the steps, carrying a bowl of milk, when 1 felt
giddy and fell. All the milk was spilled and my heel was dislocated.
Naren and Baburam came running and took care of me. There was a
great inflammation of the foot. The Master heard of the accident and
said to Baburam: "Well, Baburam, it is a nice mess I am in now. Who
will cook my food? Who will feed me now?" He was then ill with cancer
of the throat and lived only on farina pudding. I used to make it and feed
him in his room in the upper story of the house. I had a ring in my nose
then. The Master touched his nose and made a sign of a ring by making
a circle with his finger in order to indicate me. He then said, "Baburam,
can you put her [making the sign]/ in a basket and carry her on your
shoulder to this room?" Naren and Baburam were convulsed with
sidesplitting laughter. Thus he used to cut jokes with them. After three
days the swelling subsided. Then they helped me to go upstairs with his

meals. Golap-ma made the pudding during those three days and Naren
fed him.

Body and Soul

Everything — husband, wife, areseentlthddddy — is only illusory. These
are all shackles of illusion. Unless you can free yourself from these
bondages you will never be able to go to the other shore of the world.
Even this attachment to the body, the identification of the self with the
body, must go. What is this body, my child? It is nothing but three
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pounds of ashes when it is cremated. Why so much vanity about it?
However strong or beautiful this body may be, its culmination is in those
three pounds of ashes. And still people are so attached to it. Glory to
God!

The Master would say: "Musk forms in the navel of the deer. Being
fascinated with its smell, the deer run here and there. They do not know
where the fragrance comes from. Likewise, God resides in the human
body and man does not know it. Therefore he searches everywhere for
bliss, not knowing that it is already within him. God alone is real. All else
is false."

Practise, Practise, Practise!

Can one have the vision of God every day? The Master used to say: "
Does an angler catch a big carp every day the moment he sits with his
rod? Arranging everything about him, he sits with the rod and concen-
trates. Once in a while a big carp swallows the hook, but many times he
is disappointed. Don't relax the practices for that reason." Do more
japam.

Why are you so restless, my child? Why don't you stick onto what you
have? Always remember, "I have at least a Mother, if none else." Do
you remember those words of the Master? He said he would reveal
himself to all that take refuge in him reveal himself at least on their
last day. He will draw all to himself.

"I Will Be Worshipped in Every House ™

Once when the Master was lying ill at Cossipore a few devotees brought
some offerings for Mother Kali at the Dakshineswar temple. On hearing
that the Master was at Cossipore they offered everything they had

brought before a picture of the Master, and then partook of the prasad.

When the Master heard this, he remarked, "All these things were brought
for the great Mother of the Universe, and they have offered them here [
meaning himself]!" 1 was frightened very much at this and thought: "He

is suffering from this dangerous disease. Who knows what might

happen? What a calamity! Why did they do it?">

The Master too referred to this incident again and again. Afterwards, at a
late hour in the night, he said to me: "You will see how in the course of
time I will be worshipped in every house. You will see everyone

accepting this [meaning himself]. This is surely going to happen." That

was the only day I heard him using the first person pronoun with

s It 1s sacrilegious to offer a man the gifts that are meant for a deity, and hence this fear that it
may cause some misfortune.
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reference to himself. Usually he would speak of himself not as "I" or "me,"
but as "this case" or as "belonging to this," pointing to his body.

Longing and Vision

He who eagerly prays to God will see him. One of our devotees,
Tejachandra Mittra, passed away. What a sincere soul he was! The
Master used to frequent his house. Someone had deposited two hundred
rupees with Tejachandra. One day he was robbed of that amount by a
pickpocket in the tram car. He discovered the loss after some time and
suffered terrible mental agony. He came to the bank of the Ganga and
prayed to the Master with tears in his eyes, "O Lord, what have you
done to me?" He was not rich enough to make up that amount from his
own pocket. As he was thus weeping he saw the Master appear before
him and say: "Why do you weep so bitterly? The money is there
under a brick on the bank of the Ganga." Tejachandra quickly removed
the brick and really found there a bundle of banknotes. He narrated the
incident to Sharat [Swami Saradananda]. Sharat said: "You are lucky
to get the vision of the Master even now. But we do not see him."
Why should Sharat and others like him see him anymore? They
have seen him enough, and all their desires have been fulfilled.

Visions of the Master

When the Master passed away 1 also wanted to leave my body. He
appeared before me and said: "No, you must remain here. There are
many things to be done." I myself realized later on that this was true. I
had so many things to do. The Master used to say: "The people of
Calcutta live like worms crawling in darkness. You will guide them."
He said that he would live for another hundred years in a subtle body,
in the hearts of the devotees. He further said that he would have many
devotees among white people.

After the passing away of the Master I was at first greatly frightened,
for I wore a sari with thin red borders and had gold bangles on my
wrist, which made me afraid of people's criticism. ® One day the Master
appeared before me and asked me to feed him khichuri [rice and lentils
cooked together]. I cooked the dish and offered it to Raghuvir’ in the
temple. Then I mentally fed the Master with it.

Hindu widows, according to traditional custom, are required to wear a white sari without
any border and to give up all ornaments. Holy Mother at first wanted to follow this custom,
but Sri Ramakrishna appeared in a vision and told her not to do so as he was not really
dead.

" The tutelary deity of Sri Ramakrishna's family at Kamarpukur.



Sri Sarada Devi 31

On my way to Vrindaban I saw the Master at the window of my train
compartment and he said to me, "Take special care of the amulet lest you
lose it." He had given me his own amulet, and I was wearing it on my arm. I
used to worship it. Later | gave it to the Belur Math, and now they worship
it there.

"In Every Age I Come Back"

The Master said he would come again after a hundred years. Mean-
while, for those hundred years he would live in the hearts of those who
love him. Standing on the semicircular verandah of Dakshineswar, the
Master said this, pointing towards the northwest. I told him I could not
come again. Lakshmi also said she would not come again, even if she
were chopped into shreds like tobacco leaves! The Master laughed and
said: "How can you avoid coming? Our roots are twined together like
the kalmi plant [a creeper that grows on the surface of a pond]. Pull one
stem and the whole clump will come forward."

The Master used to say: "You have come to the garden to eat mangoes.
Very well, eat them, enjoy them, and go. What does it matter to you how
many branches and leaves there are?"

[From: In the Company of Holy Mother, by Her Direct Disciples (Calcutta:
Advaita Ashrama), 1980; Sri Sarada Devi, The Holy Mother, by Swami
Tapasyananda & Swami Nikhilananda (Madras: Sri Ramakrishna Math),
1958]
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Lakshmi Devi

Lakshmi Devi (1864-1926) was the daughter of Sri Ramakrishna's
brother Rameshwar. Soon after her marriage she became a widow and
went to live at Dakshineswar with Sri Ramakrishna and Holy Mother.
In the later part of her life she drew many disciples around her and
inspired them with stories and teachings of the Master.

At Dakshineswar we [Holy Mother and Lakshmi] used to live in the
nahabat [a small concert tower at the temple garden]. When the Master
wished to indicate to his visitors about the Mother, he would make a
circle with his finger at the tip of the nose. This was because the Mother
wore a nose ring. He used to refer to the nahabat as a cage and to us as
Shuk-Sari [two birds in Indian folklore who were adept in talking about
Krishna's glories]. When fruits and sweets that had been offered to the
Divine Mother were brought to the Master, he would remind Brother
Ramlal: "Don't forget that there are two birds in that cage. Give them
some fruits and peas." Newcomers would take the Master's words
literally. Even Master Mahashay [the recorder of The Gospel of Sri Rama-
krishna] did so at first.

Village women would come to visit the Mother, and sometimes the Master
could overhear their conversation. Once he said to the Mother: "These
women come and stroll by the goose pond. Seeing me they talk among
themselves and I hear what they are saying. They say: 'This man is good,
but one thing is strange! He does not sleep with his wife at night.' Please
don't pay any heed to their talk. They are worldly women. They may teach
you how to divert my mind towards the world through tricks or medicine.
Please don't follow their advice. I have given myself completely to God."
The Mother was embarrassed and reassured the Master: "Oh, no, no. I won't
pay any attention to them."

How we managed in that tiny room of the nahabat, I sometimes wonder. It
was the Master's divine play! Usually it was shared by Holy

33
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Mother, another girl, and me. Sometimes Gopaler-ma, who was a large
woman, or other women devotees from Calcutta would stay with us.
Moreover, we had to store our groceries, cooking vessels, dishes, and
even the water jar in that room. Since the Master had a weak stomach
we also had to store the food for his special diet.

The Master did not sleep much at night. When it was still dark outside he
would move around the temple garden, and while passing near the
nahabat he would call: "O Lakshmi, O Lakshmi. Get up. Ask your aunt
to get up also. How long will you sleep? It is almost dawn. The crows
and cuckoos are about to sing. [This is a sign of daybreak in
tropical countries.] Chant the name of the Divine Mother."

Sometimes in winter, when the Master would call me, Mother, while
lying under her quilt, would whisper to me: "Keep quiet. He has no sleep
in his eyes. It is not the right time to get up, and the birds have not yet
started singing. Don't respond." But if the Master did not get any
response, he would pour water under the doorsill, and since we slept on
the floor we had to get up without delay. Even so, sometimes our beds
got wet.

The Master lost some hair from the front of his head because of excessive
heat in his body, and some of his hair and beard turned grey. He did not
care to live long, to be an old man. He would say, "I don't want to hear
people saying that there is an 'old monk' in Rasmani's temple garden." "
Don't say that," the Mother replied. "You are not old. Do you think you
are old enough to leave this world? Moreover, if you live here as an old
monk, people will say a 'wise monk' lives in Rasmani's Kali temple." The
Master replied: "Pooh! Who is going to call me a wise monk? Anyhow, |
can't bear it if anybody calls me 'old fellow.""

After a short period of marriage I became a widow and went back to my
father's home. I was then a beautiful young girl. One day the Master told me:
"Do your duties and practise religion at home. Do not travel to the holy
places by yourself. Who knows who might harm you? Live with your aunt.
Life in the world is not safe."

When the Master was in his village, every evening he sat by the door of
his parental home, watching the people as they passed along the street.
All the women had to go that way to bring water from the tank. They
would come with their jugs and seeing him at the door, they would sit
down in the little yard in front, with their water jugs beside them, and
forget everything in the joy of hearing him talk or sing of God. Fearing
lest they might be neglecting their duties, he asked about them. One girl
said: "I have a cow. When I heard that you were coming, I cut straw
enough to last a month and filled my room with it." To another he said,
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"How 1is your baby?" "Oh! I forgot," she exclaimed. "I left it with a
neighbour." She had walked more than a mile to come and see him.

One day the Master said to the women, "Now, today you must sing and
I will listen." They all remained silent. Not one dared utter a sound. But
there was one girl whom the Master loved very much, so much that
whenever she did not come he would send for her. As soon as she saw
that no one else would sing, she sang a song in a weak high-pitched,
quavering voice. All the other girls began to laugh at her, but when she
had finished, the Master was delighted. "See how great is her devotion,"
he exclaimed. "Just because I asked her, she has sung so frankly and
simply. She alone among you has true devotion."

The Master could not stand to see women who were shameless and
wanton. He said to the Mother: "Don't be like them. They have one leg
under a bel tree and the other under a banyan tree. Their behaviour is
shameless. Women must be unassuming. Modesty is the ornament of
women."

Chinu Shankhari, who was well known in Kamarpukur, was a boyhood
friend of the Master. He was a devout Vaishnava and had acquired some
supernatural powers through spiritual discipline. Holding the Master he
would say, "Gadai, when I see you I think of Gauranga." Some of our
Kamarpukur neighbours went to Dakshineswar for a holy bath in the
Ganga, and they told the Master a story about Chinu's supernatural
powers. They said that one day some guests came to Chinu's house and
asked for food, expressing a desire to eat a sour preparation of fish with
mango. Since it was not the season for mangoes, Chinu was very worried
and prayed to the Lord that he might be able to fulfill the desire of his
guests. At the last moment, unexpectedly and inexplicably, he obtained
some mangoes and fed his guests with great joy.

The Master listened to the story, and when he went to Kamarpukur he
said to Chinu: "Shame! Shame! Fie on your supernatural powers. Do not
use them again. People will exploit you and disturb your spiritual life.
Please don't pay any heed to those powers. Otherwise your mind will
fall to a lower state."

The Master never visited Puri. One day Balaram Babu brought some
prasad of Lord Jagannath. The Master touched it with his head and
saluted the Lord. He was then in an ecstatic mood. After a while he said:
"I went to the place of Jagannath. There everything is great and vast —
the vast ocean and long, wide roads. If this body goes there, it will not
come back."

When 1 was at Dakshineswar with the Mother, she told me that the Master
had written a mantram on her tongue, and she suggested that |
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ask him to do the same for me. I said: "I am too shy to ask him. There are so
many visitors in his room."

Then another day I went to salute the Master. I didn't say anything, but
he asked me of his own accord, "What deity do you love most?"
Delighted at his question, I replied, "Radha-Krishna." He then wrote the
mantram on my tongue. I had a rosary of tulsi beads around my neck
which Sister Prasanna of Kamarpukur's Laha family had given me with
the comment that they were very becoming to me.

Sometime earlier the Mother and I had received some instructions
about the worship of the Divine Mother from an old monk whose name
was Swami Purnananda. He was a very handsome person, very calm and
quiet. When the Mother told the Master about it, he said: "It is all right.
I have given the right mantram to Lakshmi."

While I was in Dakshineswar I would sometimes remember Mother
Shitala, who is another form of the Divine Mother and one of our family
deities. At that time if sweets were presented to the Master he would say:
"Feed these sweets to Lakshmi. It will be a grand offering to Mother
Shitala, because Lakshmi is part of her." Once he asked Girish Babu to
do this.

Whenever there was kirtan [devotional singing] in his room, the Master
would ask Brother Ramlal to open the door facing the nahabat. He
would say: "A current of devotion and bliss will flow here. If they do
not see or hear, how will they learn?" The Mother used to watch
through a tiny hole in the bamboo screen, and that made her happy.
Sometimes the Master would comment with a laugh, "O Ramlal, the
opening in your aunt's screen is getting bigger and bigger."

The Master used to tell the Mother and me stories from the Ramayana
and the Mahabharata, such as the story of King Nala, and he would then
question us to see if we had understood them. He would also make me
repeat them, and afterwards he would remark with satisfaction, "That is
why I call you a shuk [parrot]."

The Master always encouraged us to practise spiritual disciplines. He
would tell us: "Pray unceasingly. Be sincere. Don't show your spiritual
disciplines to others. If the character is not good, what good will japam
do? Young women should be very careful. Be pure. The trees suck water
from the earth through their roots, unperceived. Likewise, some people
show a religious nature outwardly but secretly enjoy lustful things. Don't
be a hypocrite."

One time he said to me: "If you cannot remember God, think of me. That will
do."

All through his life the Master had stomach trouble. When Grandma |
Sri Ramakrishna's mother] was living in Dakshineswar, the Master
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would salute her every morning. Grandma was a large woman and very
beautiful, but she was also old-fashioned and very shy. Even before her
youngest son [Sri Ramakrishna] she would cover her face with a veil.
When he came she would ask him, "How is your stomach?" The Master
would reply, "Not very good." Grandma would then advise: "Don't take
the prasad of Mother Kali. [It was very spicy food.] As long as your
stomach is not all right your wife will cook plain soup and rice for you.
Please eat only that."
Sometimes the Master would get tired of eating invalid's food every day and
would ask his mother to cook one or two dishes and season them as she
used to do in Kamarpukur. So occasionally Grandma cooked for him and
the Master enjoyed it.
The Master used to encourage women to cook. "It is a good occupation for
the mind," he would say. "Sita was a good cook, and so were Draupadi and
Parvati. Mother Lakshmi [the goddess of fortune] would herself cook and
feed others."
After the death of her two older sons, Grandma became somewhat
passive and withdrawn. Furthermore, she would not take her lunch until
she had heard the noon whistle of the Alambazar Jute Mill. As soon as
it sounded she would exclaim: "Oh! There is the whistle of heaven.
That is the signal for offering food to Lakshmi and Narayana." A
problem would arise on Sundays, however, when the jute mill was
closed. No whistle was blown at noon, and consequently she would not
eat. This worried the Master very much, and he would lament: "Oh
dear! My old mother will refuse her food today and she will be weak."
Brother Hriday would say to the Master: "Don't be anxious, Uncle.
When Grandma is hungry she will eat of her own accord." But the
Master would reply: "Oh no. I am her son. It is my duty to look after
my old mother." With much coaxing the Master would persuade his
mother to eat the prasad of Krishna.
One day Brother Hriday made a high-pitched sound by blowing
through a pipe. He then said to Grandma: "There, Grandma, did you
hear the whistle of heaven? Now please eat your food." But Grandma
laughed and said: "Oh no. You made the sound with your pipe."
Everyone laughed.

When Grandma passed away the Master wept.
The Mother used to carry the Master's meals to his room. Pointing to
her, sometimes the Master would say in a joking manner: "Luckily, I
have the shade of this tree. Otherwise, who would prepare food for me?
Such a man who cannot manage his own cloth and he has married!"
One day I went with the Mother to carry the Master his food. Rakhal and
others who were with him immediately left the room, leaving us
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alone there. The Master was lying on his bed in samadhi, but he looked
so devoid of life that the Mother, having long been anxious for his health,
began to weep, thinking he had left the body. Then she remembered that
he had once said to her that if she ever found him in this state, she was
just to touch his feet and that would bring him back. So she began to rub
his feet. Rakhal and the others, hearing the weeping, hurried back into the
room, and they too began to rub him vigourously.

This brought him back to consciousness and, opening his eyes, he asked
with surprise what the matter was. Then, realizing their fears, he smiled
and said: "I was in the land of the white people. Their skin is white, their
hearts are white, and they are simple and sincere. It i1s a very beautiful
country. I think I shall go there." "But you will get very hungry if you go
there," the Mother replied with anxious solicitude. Then the Master
struck his forehead with his hand two or three times and said to the
Mother: "Oh! You are so foolish! You do not know anything."

One night the Master was filled with the spiritual mood of Radha and
had so identified himself with her that he decided to go to the arbour to
meet Krishna. Coming out of his room, he entered the rose garden. He
had no outward consciousness. He soon got caught in the rose bushes
and was scratched all over from the thorns, and there he stood. The night
watchman found him and woke us. At once I went to the temple
manager and brought him there. Many others, awakened by the noise,
crowded around. The Mother also came there and burst into tears. This
was the first time that she was seen in public. When the Master was
carried to his room he said: "I am going to the arbour. Why are you
troubling me? Let me go." After this, the Mother and I began to sleep in
his room. A couple of days later, however, he said to us: "Why are you

suffering this way? It is so hot now. You had better sleep in the nahabat.
" We obeyed.

Once the Master asked me to eat some of Mother Kali's prasad. I was

reluctant to eat a piece of fish /because a Hindu widow is a strict vegetarian],
but the Master insisted [knowing that Lakshmi was the goddess Shitala]. He
said to me: "It is prasad. Don't hesitate. Eat. If you don't listen to me you will
have to be born again. You may get an ugly, fat husband who will force you
to lead a worldly life against your will." "Well," I said, "I certainly don't want
to be involved in maya again. Perhaps it is better to eat this nonvegetarian
prasad."

What love the Master had for the devotees! Once Balaram Babu came to

Dakshineswar by boat with his wife and children. They visited with the

Master for a while, and they all left for Calcutta in the afternoon. The Master
himself went to the chandni ghat to see them off. Smiling at them, he said, "
Come again."
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Their boat pulled out into the river, and the Master stood there watching
until they had gone quite a distance. In the meantime a storm began to
blow and the sky quickly became dark with clouds. I noticed that the
Master was quite worried. He started pacing back and forth like a
restless boy, his anxiety increasing as he watched the progress of the
violently rocking boat.

Impatiently he was asking everyone: "What will happen? Will Bala-ram
and his family survive this storm? Alas! What will happen? People will
say that Balaram went to see that worthless, unfortunate holy man in
Dakshineswar and lost his life coming back. Tell me, what will happen?
" Gradually the boat disappeared from sight. The Master returned to his
room, his face gloomy, his mind very much disturbed, and he resumed
his restless pacing, lamenting: "Mother, will you tarnish my face? Won't
you hear my prayer? Mother, what will happen?"

Seeing the Master's state of mind, Yogin, without saying anything, set
out for Calcutta in the midst of the storm to get news of Balaram Babu.
He took a share-carriage from Alambazar, and within a few hours he was
back [by then night had fallen] and was able to report to the Master that
Balaram Babu and his family had arrived home safely.

Yogin said to him: "It is by your grace that they had no mishap on the
river and reached home safely. Seeing your anxiety, I went myself for
news of them. They said the boat was rolling heavily in the storm and at
one point almost overturned, but it somehow regained its balance."

The Master was overjoyed to hear the news. Then he said to Yogin slowly: "
What did you say? By my grace? Don't repeat to anyone what you have
said. Keep it in your mind. Remember! By the grace of the Mother they
reached home safely."

[ still remember the day he passed away at the Cossipore garden house.
He was seated on his bed, reclining against a pillow. It was noon. All
were silent. Everyone thought that his voice was completely gone. But
as soon as the Mother and I entered his room he slowly whispered: "You
have come. Listen, I am going somewhere across the water, a long
distance." The Mother burst into tears.

Again he whispered: "Don't worry. They [pointing to the disciples] will
look after you just as they are taking care of me. Keep watch over Lakshmi.
She will be your companion."

Even now I remember his face on that last day, seated on his bed, merged
in samadhi, with tears rolling down his cheeks.

[From: Ramakrishna-Saradamrita, by Swami Nirlepananda (Calcutta: Ka-
runa Prakashani), 1968; Days In An Indian Monastery, by Sister Devamata (
La Crescenta: Ananda Ashrama), 1927; Prabuddha Bharata (Mayavati:
Advaita Ashrama) vol. 34, no. 9, 1929]
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Ramlal Chattopadhyay

Ramlal Chattopadhyay (1858-1933) was a son of Sri Ramakrishna's
elder brother Rameshwar. When he was in his early twenties he came to
Dakshineswar and became a priest of the Kali temple as well as an
attendant of Sri Ramakrishna. He was known among the disciples and
devotees of the Master as Ramlal Dada. Ramlal's reminiscences were
recorded by Kamal Krishna Mittra in his diary and the dates are given
at the end of each entry.

See God with Open Eyes

If anyone would meditate or close his eyes while repeating his man-tram
inside the Kali temple, the Master would tell him: "What are you doing?
You are seated here in front of the living Mother. See her to your heart's
content. Practise those spiritual disciplines elsewhere, where you cannot
get this direct experience. Suppose you have gone home to visit your

mother. Would you sit before her with closed eyes and repeat her name?
(1 October 1931)

Chanting the Name of the Lord

In the mornings and evenings Sri Ramakrishna used to dance, chanting the
names of the Lord:

"Jaya Govinda, Jaya Gopala"

[Victory to Govinda, Victory to Gopala]
"Keshava Madhava Dina Dayala"

[O Keshava, Madhava, the compassionate friend of the lowly] "Hare
Murare Govinda, Basu-Daivaki Nandana Govinda"

[O Hari, Murari, Govinda, O son of Vasudeva and Devaki]

"Hare Narayana Govinda He"

[O Hari, Narayana, Govinda]
"Hare Krishna Basudeva"

[O Hari, Krishna, son of Vasudeva] (3 January 1932)

41
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The Meaning and Method of Japam

Sri Ramakrishna once explained the meaning of the name Rama: "Ra
means the universe; Ma means God, or the ruler. He who i1s the ruler of
the universe 1s Rama." He also showed how to repeat the mantram on
one's fingers: "While repeating the mantram one should not touch the
joints of the fingers, nor should the thumbnail touch the fingers. Further-
more, if there is any gap between the fingers, the results of the japam
will go through it." He used to say, "Relax after finishing your duties,
and smile after conquering your enemy." (4 December 1931)

The Power of the Name

Sri Ramakrishna used to say: "The human mind cannot comprehend the
divine sport [lila] of God. By a mere wish he makes the impossible
possible and the possible impossible." Concerning the power of the
name, Sri Ramakrishna once said to Ishan Mukherjee: "Well, if there is
a collision between two trains, some people will die and some will
survive. Those who started their journey chanting the name of Mother
Durga survived, and those who did not, died. According to somebody's
karma, his foot is supposed to be pierced by a plough, but as he started
his journey chanting the name of Mother Durga, a blade of kusha grass
entered his foot instead. This shows that he escaped major injury
through the power of the Mother's name. What do you think about it?"
Ishan: "Yes, sir. It is possible." (31 May 1931)

On Fasting

About fasting, the Master used to say: "After eating a little prasad [offered
food] of the Divine Mother, if you eat your regular food, it will not harm
you. One gets the benefit of fasting  that is, purity of the mind — when
one observes it wholeheartedly. But if fasting causes stomach pains, it is
almost impossible to practise spiritual disciplines or to perform any work.
In the kali yuga [the iron age] the span of life is short and the human body
is weak and cannot survive long without food. It is difficult to concentrate
on God while fasting. Therefore, eat something first and then practise
spiritual disciplines." (1 November 1931)

Days in Dakshineswar

The barber came to the temple garden on Mondays to cut the Master's hair. [/
Sri Ramakrishna could not be shaved with an open razor because his skin
was very soft, so the barber would just trim his beard.]

Hriday served the Master wholeheartedly. The Master used to say that that
type of service was rare and that even parents could not serve
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their children so well. But later Hriday gave the Master a lot of trouble.
It was interesting to watch a quarrel between them. When the Master got
angry with Hriday he would scold him using very strong words. Hriday
usually kept quiet, but occasionally he would say: "Uncle, what are you
saying? 1 am your nephew." And again when Hriday became angry, the
Master would keep quiet. After such quarrelling I would think they
would never speak to each other again. But after a short while they
would smile and talk and tease each other.

This is the room [Sri Ramakrishna's room at Dakshineswar| where the
Master sang, danced, talked, and joked with people. He was full of fun.
Sometimes he made us laugh so hard that our stomachs would ache. Like a
child, he would ask the devotees: "Well, I have actually seen and heard all
these funny things. Is it wrong for me to tell you?" The devotees would say:
"No, sir. It is not wrong. Please tell us more. We love it." (9 and 13
November 1931)

Devotion of the Worldly Calcutta People

The Master would sometimes ask me to sing some of his favourite
songs, such as, "O Mother, save my soul," "Mother, how you have
deluded this world!" or "When shall I attain samadhi?" If I felt shy
about singing in front of people, he would scold me, saying: "Why are
you afraid? As long as you have shame, hatred, and fear, you won't
attain perfection. Worldly people are like worms." He further told me:
When you sing any song about a particular god or goddess, first
visualize that the deity is in front of you, and then think that you are
singing for him or her and forget yourself. Never think that you are
singing for any human being. Thus, you won't feel any shyness."

The Master said: "Most of the people of Calcutta are worldly. They are
respectful one moment and disrespectful the next. Some people criticize
me because I wear a red-bordered cloth, black polished slippers, and
recline on a bolster. I consider such comments of worldly people to be
like the ebb and flood tides of the Ganga. I have seen how the water
level of the Ganga may be full in the morning, but later it subsides.
People say so many things. I spit on their good comments as well as their
bad comments. But there are some people in Calcutta who are endowed
with faith and devotion, and they do not forget to pay their respects to a
holy man." (8 May 1929 and 4 January 1931)

n

Sri Ramakrishna's Dancing

[Ramlal demonstrated how the Master would sing and dance in ecstasy.]
When the Master would sing this song, "O Mother, this world is a
marketplace of crazy people," he would dance this way: He would raise
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his left hand up, and his right hand would be parallel to his left shoulder.
Then he would bend and twist his right knee, stamp his right foot on the
floor, and turn at the waist. When the Master was in a great mood, he
would dance back and forth and also in a circle. When he would sing, "0
Mother, you live in various moods," he would dance, clapping his hands,
moving his waist, and keeping the rhythm with his feet.

Nowadays the songs the Master used to sing are sung in different tunes, and
it 1s jarring to my ears. (8 May 1929 and 26 May 1931)

Sri Ramakrishna's Singing
If someone broke the rhythm while singing, the Master would cry out "
Oohu, oohu." But if the person sang with devotion and deep absorp-
tion, such irregularity would not disturb him. He was not interested in
ragas, raginis [metres], or the science of music. The Master sang in
ecstasy, and his voice was soft, sweet, and melodious. Sometimes when
he was singing, he would improvise some joyous phrase. I saw the
Master enter into samadhi many times while singing. Sometimes he
would ask me or Swamiji to sing, and while listening he would again
enter into samadhi.
When I sing accompanied by drums, my mind dwells on the rhythm of
the drums, and for that reason it is hard for me to sing wholeheartedly for
God. Noticing this the Master used to say: "Suppose a man is singing
kirtan rhythmically, repeating, 'Nitai anzar mata hati [My Nitai is a mad
elephant].' Gradually when his emotion deepens, he repeats, 'Hati.' And at
last he goes into samadhi, saying only 'Ha." (20 May 1929)

Sri Ramakrishna's Daily Routine

The Master usually got up at three or three-thirty in the morning, and as
soon as he got out of bed I would wake up. When he went to the pine
grove I would either lead the way or follow him with a jug and towel. He
would then go to the pond, throw off his cloth, and sit on the ghat,
dangling his legs. I would bring him water and he would wash his face,
hands, and feet. After covering himself with his towel, he would return to
his room. Meanwhile I would quickly scour the jug, wash his cloth, and
then hurry after him. In his room he would put on a fresh cloth and go to
the southern verandah to brush his teeth............ After that he would take a
little Ganga water on his palm and sprinkle it on his head, saying,
Brahma-Vari, Brahma-Vari! Ganga, Ganga! Hari Om Tat Sat! [The water
of the Ganga is as pure as Brahman. God is the only Reality.]" Then he
would take some prasad of Jagannath and Kali and also a few bits of dried
bel leaves that had been offered at the shrine of Tarakeshwar Shiva,

"
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which he kept in a small bag. With joined palms he would salute all the
holy pictures in his room and then sit down on the small cot.

The Master was usually in one of two moods. On some days he would
observe all the traditional methods of purification; on other days he
would completely ignore them. When he was in this second mood, he
would not even wash himself properly. He would ask for food as soon as
he returned from the pond in the morning and reluctantly wash his hands
with water after eating. One day he explained: "You see, Mother keeps
me sometimes in the mood of a child, sometimes in the mood of a
madman, and sometimes in the mood of a carefree soul."

At about nine or ten in the morning, after he had finished talking with
the devotees, I would rub oil on his body. But I would put oil on his
head only with his permission. One day, without asking first, I put my
hand on his head in order to rub oil on his hair. He became angry and
scolded me, and then he suddenly went into samadhi. I was struck dumb
with wonder, and my heart began to pound in fear. After a long time he
gave a deep sigh and came back to the normal conscious plane. Then he
told me: "Do not put your hand on my head that way. There is no telling
what spiritual condition I may be in. Ask for permission before you
touch my head."

On another day, seeing a thread on his hair, I automatically reached out
my hand to remove it. Again he got very angry and said: "What! You are
touching my head again?" I had forgotten his warning............... After oil had
been rubbed on him, he would go to the chandni ghat on the Ganga for a
bath and then go to the Kali temple. There he would decorate the Mother
with flowers or offer flowers and bel leaves at her feet. Sometimes he

would put flowers on his own head and then merge into samadhi. (
Prabuddha Bharata, 1930, pp. 13-14)

The Master's Frugality

The Master suffered from stomach trouble during the rainy season, and
he would then eat only rice, bitter squash curry, and soup. Hriday and I
slept on the floor of the Master's room. Once at midnight we woke up to
find him cutting vegetables and gathering rice and spices. Hriday said to
the Master: "Uncle, what are you doing? Can't you do that in the
morning? Both of us are here. We will do everything for you. Why don't
you go to bed and sleep? Besides, Uncle, your household work makes me
laugh. That quantity of vegetables and rice is hardly enough for one
person. You are so miserly!" The Master replied: "Look, when 1 woke up,
at first I sat quietly. Then I thought that it was not good to sit idle, so I
should do some household work. Some people do not know how much
food I eat, so they cook too much and waste it. Do you know why I was
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preparing those things? I have seen the temple officials waste so much food
on their plates.

"Look, Hriday, you are a son of a high class brahmin, and for a morsel of
food and some money you-are now working at this Kali temple. If you had
land and money in Sihar, would you come here for a job? Learn how to be
frugal. Otherwise the goddess of fortune will leave you." "You are right,
Uncle," said Hriday.

One morning the Master asked someone to cut a twig for him so that he
could clean his teeth. The person brought three twigs. The Master took
one and said to him: "Rascal! I asked you to bring one twig. Why did you
bring three? However, save those two." The next morning the Master
asked the same person for another twig. When he was about to go to the
garden, the Master said: "Where are you going? Why don't you give me
one of those that you brought yesterday?" Then the Master continued: "
Without checking the stock, why are you running to get a new one? Have
you created that tree? You are about to break its branches at your own
whim! Only the Creator knows how difficult it is to create. You are
dullheaded. Learn how to work methodically. Do not waste anything." (8
October 1931)

Five Pictures

One day the Master asked Beni Madhav of Sinthi: "Could you bring me
some good holy pictures for my room?" Some time later Beni Madhav
asked me to collect them from him. I brought the Master five pictures
— Dhruva, Prahlad, Gauranga, Jagannath, and Kamale Kamini [a

goddess standing on a lotus]. Now the last two pictures are in
Kamarpukur. (9 November 1930)

A Ghost

Formerly the Master and Hriday lived in a large room of the kuthi [the
owner's bungalow] at the Dakshineswar temple garden, and the Master's
mother slept in an adjoining small room. Often at night they heard a man
wearing shoes go up and down the stairs, opening doors and windows. It
was a ghost, possibly a European. The kuthi had been a European
residence before the temple was built. The Master used to say: "We
cannot say that this world is entirely false because we actually see it with
our own eyes. Nor can we say that it is real. For example, just see how
this garden has changed. Previously it was a graveyard and this kuthi the
house of a European. But now the temple and so many other things are
here! Later this temple also will vanish, and then who knows what will
come next?" (Spiritual Talks, 4th edition, 1968, pp. 66-67)
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Captain
The Master used to say: "Even the dogs and cats of the Dakshineswar
temple garden are blessed. Look, they are eating Mother's prasad, seeing
the Ganga and drinking its water, and roaming around the temples."
There was a dog in the temple garden that the Master called Captain.
Captain quite often sat on the front terrace of the Mother's temple.
Whenever the Master would call him, the dog would come and roll at his
feet. Then the Master would feed him luchis [fried bread] and sandesh [a
sweet]. The Master once said: "Look, there are so many dogs here but
none of them sits in front of the Mother except Captain. I have not seen
any other dog that sits on the steps near the Ganga and drinks Ganga
water. Captain has been born as a dog as the result of a curse. He had
some good samskaras [tendencies] in his previous life, so he is here. He

is a blessed soul." (16 October 1931)

The Master's Vision about His Suppliers

One day the Master put a rupee in one hand and some clay in the other
and then threw them both into the Ganga, saying, "Rupee is clay and
clay is rupee." After a while he began to worry that his action might
have offended the goddess of fortune, so he went to the Mother's
temple. Later he said to me: "Ramlal, I told the Mother everything, and
she replied: 'No, Lakshmi, the goddess of fortune, will not be angry
with you. Don't be afraid. Look, these are your suppliers. They will feed
you." The Mother then showed me a vision: I saw many bubbles rising
around the Divine Mother. Gradually those bubbles took the forms of
Mathur, Balaram, Surendra, and many others. They were clapping their
hands around the Mother and saying, 'Victory to Kali! Victory to Shiva!
' After that they merged with the Mother, one by one. Then I saw some
people with white complexion. I shall not be able to meet them, but you
will see them." Nowadays I find that many Westerners have become
devotees of the Master. Swamiji went to the West and lectured, and as a

result, many rich people became his devotees and helped his work. (8
October 1931)

Man's Will or God's Will

A person once asked the Master, "How can we ascertain whether
something is man's will or God's will?" Sri Ramakrishna replied: "Sup-
pose a man has made arrangements to go to Varanasi and is ready to
leave. In the meantime a cable comes from his country home that his
brother i1s about to die and if he wants to see him, he should come
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immediately. He cancels his trip to Varanasi and hurriedly returns
home. Now you decide whose will it is." (21 October 1930)

Sri Ramakrishna Was All-Knowing

I was an attendant of the Master. Gradually the disciples of the Master
began to come to Dakshineswar, so one day I said to the Master: "I
haven't visited Kamarpukur for a long time. I think I should go there and
clear the taxes on our property." The Master said, "If you go, then who
will look after me?" I replied: "Well, these devotees are coming regularly
and they often stay here at night. They can look after you. Besides, I won'
t be gone long. As soon as I finish my work, I shall return." The Master
then said: "Yes, they are coming, but they do not know my way of life.
They cannot serve me like you."

The next morning when I asked the Master's permission again, he
thought for a while and then said: "No, you won't be able to go to
Kamarpukur. It is not the will of the Mother that you should leave me
and go there." I told him: "But I am ready to go. I only need the temple
managet's permission." Hearing this, the Master made a circle in the air
with his finger and wrote something there. Then he said: "Ramlal, you
won't be able to go to Kamarpukur. Go to the manager and see what he
says." When I approached the manager, he said: "No, it's not possible for
you to leave now because the staff needed to carry on the day-to-day
work of the temples is short-handed." Thus, my visit to Kamarpukur was
cancelled.

Once the Master told me: "Offer whoever comes here, whether known or
unknown, a little prasad and a glass of Ganga water. You will not have to
do anything else. This service to the devotees will give you the result of
japam, austerity, and sacrifice." So I follow what the Master said to me
and it gives me joy. (13 November 1931 and 23 October 1931)

The Christian Doctrine of Sin

One day the Master said to me, "Ramlal, go to the Alambazar market and
buy some tobacco, fennel seed, and cubeb." I went to the market and
came across a Christian missionary who was preaching Christianity on
the street and distributing a pamphlet, "The Gospel According to Mat-
thew," in Bengali. I took a copy and returned to the Master. He asked: "
What is that book? Please read to me." After listening for some time, the
Master said: "Stop. You need not read anymore. This book only talks
about sin and sin. There is a saying, 'As one thinks, so one becomes."
He further said: "God is the ruler of this universe and all beings are his

children. O my mind, know it for certain, you are achild of God." (28
October 1931)
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. At the Star Theatre

One day Girish Ghosh came to the Master and asked: "Sir, we are
presenting the play Daksha Yajno. [The Sacrifice of King Daksha] at the
Star Theatre tonight. Would you like to see it?" The Master replied, "
Yes, Ramlal and I will go." Then the Master and I hired a carriage and
left for the theatre. By mistake we entered through the back way, which
was dirty, and found that no one was there. Seeing an actress nearby, the
Master said, "Hello, could you inform Girish that some visitors have
come from Dakshineswar?" Girish immediately came and fell at the
Master's feet and remained on the ground for a few minutes. The Master
asked Girish to get up, and when he did his shirt was dirty. The Master
began to brush his shirt with his hand and said, "Ah, you have spoiled
this clean shirt!"

Girish took us upstairs and arranged for box seats, and then he called
the actresses, who at that time were putting on their makeup. They came
immediately. Girish told them: "Bow down at the Master's feet. You
won't get another chance such as this to purify yourselves." Then the
Master said to them: "Enough! O blissful mothers, please get up. You
are giving joy to people by your singing and dancing. Now go back to
your dressing room for your makeup."

During the first scene Girish appeared on stage in the role of King
Daksha and announced, "Today I shall remove the name of Shiva from
this world." At this, the Master said to me, "O Ramlal, what is this rascal
saying?" When that scene was over, Girish came to the Master and asked
with folded hands, "Sir, how did you enjoy the part of King Daksha?"
The Master said: "Look Girish, you were saying, 'l shall remove Shiva's
name from this world." Such words should not come from your lips."
Girish replied: "Sir, what can I do? I had to say all these things just for
the sake of my stomach." Then the Master said, "Yes, I understand."
Girish left, and the next scene began. When Sati [the wife of Shiva and
the daughter of King Daksha] came on stage, the Master went into
samadhi. He remained in samadhi till the end of the play, except for a few
moments when he exclaimed, "Ah! Ah!" After the play was over I
escorted the Master to the carriage, but he was in an intoxicated mood.
Girish again came, bowed down to the Master, and asked, "Sir, how did
you enjoy the play?" The Master could not talk. We left for Dakshi-
neswar. After regaining normal consciousness, the Master asked me, "
Ramlal, tell me about the last part of the play." I told him the story. He
said: "Ah, I could not see the whole play. However, after listening to you
I am. satisfied." (8 October 1931)
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The Master's Ecstasy on the Street

One day Sri Ramakrishna and I were returning from Calcutta by horse
carriage. When the carriage reached the crossroad at Baranagore, he
asked, "Is i1t Baranagore?" "Yes," I replied. He said: "I am extremely
hungry. Do you have any money in your pocket?" "Yes, I have." I always
took some money with me whenever I went anywhere with the Master,
since occasionally he would ask me to give coins to the beggars on the
street. Then he asked, "Could you buy some kachuri [fried bread] from
Fagu's shop?" I replied: "Of course. Please wait. I shall bring it very
quickly."

When I came back with the food, I found the Master was not in the
carriage. I asked the coachman, "Where has the Master gone?" He
replied, "The Master left the carriage some time ago and went in that
direction." Leaving the food in the carriage, I ran and found the Master
walking rapidly. I called: "Master, where are you going? I have brought
the food for you." But he did not listen to me at all. I then grabbed his
hand and said: "Where are you going alone? Let us return to our
carriage." The Master exclaimed: "What! What! Who are you?" Then he
took a couple of deep breaths and rubbed his head. Gradually he became
normal. Then he told me: "Look. Let me tell you something: Before you
go somewhere leaving me alone, say to me: 'l am going. Please sit here.
Don't go anywhere until I return.' If T agree, then this kind of thing will
not happen."

When the Master was in samadhi his gaze was fixed, as is seen in his
photograph. Tears of joy would flow from the outer corners of his eyes
and roll down his moustache, beard, and chest. Sometimes after samadhi

he would talk in a mysterious language that no one could understand. (
21 April 1931)

A Boat Trip with Keshab Sen

One day Keshab Sen came to Dakshineswar with his followers and
asked the Master: "Sir, Mr. Cook is a pandit and devotee, and he is
waiting in the boat. Would you like to go on a boat ride with us?" The
Master agreed and said to me, "O Ramlal, you come with me." When
we reached the boat, Keshab introduced the Master to Mr. Cook, who
was very happy.

After a while the steamboat came near the Barabazar bridge, and the
Master said to Keshab: "Keshab, I am hungry. Could you give me
something to eat?" Keshab: "Tell me, sir, whatever you would like to eat,
I shall get for you." The Master: "Let Ramlal go and get some jilipi [a
sweet]." I came back with jilipi, betel roll, and tobacco for the Master.
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Then the Master asked me to clean a place on the steamer with Ganga
water, and he ate the refreshments there. After he had finished eating, he
smoked tobacco. It was evening and he was in an ecstatic mood. We
helped him get down from the steamer, and he was staggering as we put
him in the carriage. The Europeans laughed and whispered to Keshab. I
asked Keshab why they were laughing, and he replied: "They said that
the Master has drunk too much wine, so he is staggering. I told them that
he did not drink any wine. He 1s in a divine mood, and that is why he is
intoxicated." Those people were amazed, seeing the Master in samadhi.
After arriving at Dakshineswar the Master became normal. I told him that
the Europeans had laughed when they saw him staggering like a drunkard. "
Is that so?" the Master said with a smile. (11 December 1931)

Keshab's Lecture at Dakshineswar

It was the full moon night of Lakshmi puja. In the evening Keshab Sen
and his followers along with the Master and his devotees assembled at
the chandni ghat of Dakshineswar. I prepared three large baskets of
puffed rice with coconut and other spices, which they all enjoyed. After
some time the Master said to Keshab: "Keshab, we want to hear you
lecture. Look, what a beautiful evening! The full moon is smiling and the
Ganga is flowing nearby. Now a desire has come to hear something from
your lips."

Keshab was a little hesitant and felt shy to lecture in front of the Master.
But he could not refuse the Master's request, so he stood on the
pavement of the chandni and gave a talk. (11 December 1931)

The Master's Anxiety for Swamiji

Seeing the Master's anxiety for Swamiji, I asked him, "Why are you so
anxious about him?" The Master replied: "As Rasik [Rasiklal Sarkar, a
worker at the Kali temple] is your friend and Hazra is Naren's friend, so
Naren is my friend. Naren told me that he would come on Wednesday,
and now another Wednesday is approaching and still he has not come.
Please go to his house and bring me news of him." Then he told me:

Look, Ramlal. The Marwari devotees gave me sweets, nuts, and raisins.
[ shall not eat these things. Give them to Naren and bring me news
about his health."

The Master put the food in a bundle and handed it to me, and I left for
Calcutta. In those days one could go to Calcutta by share carriage from
Baranagore. There was no other passenger for the carriage, however.

And as it would not leave until another passenger came, I decided to walk
all the way to Swamiji's house. Swamiji reprimanded me, saying, "
Brother, didn't you have any money?" I replied: "Yes, I have money.
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But I realized that the carriage would be leaving late, so I walked."
Swamiji washed my feet and fanned me. I said to him: "You told the
Master that you would visit him on Wednesday, but you didn't. He was
worried about you and has sent me with all these things." Swamiji said: "
Yes, Brother, I always plan to visit the Master, but the pressure of my
family does not allow me to go anywhere. I shall go with you right now."
Swamiji changed his clothes and nicely combed his curly hair. When we
reached Dakshineswar Swamiji bowed down to the Master. The Master
wiped the dust from Swamiji's forehead. Then he ruffled Swamiji's hair
with his fingers and said: "This foppishness does not befit you. Will you
stay here today?" "Yes, Master," replied Swamiji. Then the Master told
me, "Ramlal, please arrange some nice food for him." (21 October 1931)

Swamiji's Truthfulness

When Swamiji was leaving Dakshineswar, he said to the Master that he
would visit him again the next Wednesday. The Master asked, "What
time?" and Swamiji replied, "At three o'clock." The following Wed-
nesday Swamiji arrived at Dakshineswar at two o'clock and waited
outside the gate. He did not come to the Master then, as he had promised
to see him at three o'clock.

The Master was talking to the devotees in his room. When he was
informed that Swamiji was waiting outside the gate, he asked the
devotees to wait, and he walked towards the gate. Seeing Swamiji, the
Master asked: "Hello, Naren. When did you come? Why are you stand-
ing here? What happened?" Swamiji replied: "Sir, I promised you that |
would come at three o'clock, but I left home earlier and when 1 arrived
here I found that it was two o'clock. For the sake of truth I am waiting
here." The Master was very pleased to hear that. They remained there
talking for some time, and then at three o'clock Swamiji went with the
Master to his room. (21 October 1931)

Shiva Acharya and Brahmavrata Samadhyayi

One day I went to hear Shiva Acharya sing kirtan at Alambazar. Later I
reported to the Master about a song that I had heard there, "Who has
sung the precious name of Sri Rama in my ear?" The Master said, "Oh, I
missed this wonderful kirtan!" A few days later Shiva Acharya came to
visit the Dakshineswar temple, and I asked him to meet the Master. He
agreed. The Master said to him: "Ramlal heard your kirtan and told me
about it. Why don't you sing that song for me?" Shiva Acharya sang, and
tears began to flow from the Master's eyes. Gradually he went into
samadhi. The Master later asked me to copy that song. He told Shiva
Acharya: "Your singing brings joy to so many people. It is wonderful
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that you can sing for four or five hours at a stretch without your voice
giving out. God's power dwells in the heart of one who attracts many
people and gives joy to them."

Shiva Acharya invited the Master to visit Bhadrakali [a village on the
western side of the Ganga], and the Master agreed. One day Shiva
Acharya came with four boats decorated with flags, and the Master,
along with some devotees, went to his place. We sang kirtan on the
way. The Master was received at the village with garlands, and people
chanted the Lord's name while distributing candy. The Master was in
ecstasy.

They had a debate at that meeting. Brahmavrata Samadhyayi was a
great scholar and logician. The Master listened to what he said and
observed how he was refuting others' arguments. All of a sudden the
Master said: "Mother, this fellow is arguing too much. He is a dry
scholar." Then the Master rushed to the scholar, touched his right knee,
and said, "What did you say?" "I didn't say anything," Samadhyayi
replied in bewilderment. The Master's touch had changed Samadhyayi's
mind. The Master then said, "Just now you were talking about so many
things and arguing with people." "I was joking with them. Please don't
take me seriously," replied the pandit. Afterwards we brought the
Master back to Dakshineswar. (24 September 1931)

Digambar Banerjee

Digambar Banerjee was a poor man from the village of Sihar. One day
he brought a rosary of one hundred and eight beads and after sanctifying
it with Ganga water and sandal paste, offered it to the Master for his
blessing. The Master returned the rosary to him and said; "Repeat the
mantram on this rosary, and every day chant God's name with drum and
cymbals. It will do you good. In this kali yuga God's name is the
essential thing. Chanting God's name will bring the results of medita-
tion, worship, and sacrifice."

By the grace of the Master, Digambar Banerjee became a rich landlord. He
used to chant God's name every day according to the Master's instructions
and would feed those who joined the kirtan. What love and faith he had for
the Master! (8 October 1931)

Vijay Krishna Goswami

Vijay Krishna Goswami used to visit the Master, but he was closely
connected with the Brahmo Samaj. One day the Master said to him, "Vijay,
please come alone one day to see me. I shall tell you something."
After some days Vijay came by himself to Dakshineswar, and the
Master told him: "Look, Vijay. Your involvement with the Brahmo Sama;
does
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not suit your nature. You are a descendant of Advaita Acharya, a great
devotee of Chaitanya. A fountain of devotion is hidden within. You
should be wearing a rosary around your neck, putting marks on your
forehead, and chanting the Lord's name, but instead you are involved
with this socio-religious organization. Seeing you in this condition I feel
bad, so I am telling you what is good for you." Vijay then fell at the
Master's feet and asked, "Sir, is there any hope for me?" "Of course,"
said the Master. "Be intoxicated with the name of the Lord, and then his
grace will well up within you."

Vijay followed the Master's advice and a great change came over him. He
spent most of his time repeating his mantram with a rosary, and he practised
sadhana in many holy places.

One day Vijay visited the Master dressed like a Vaishnava [i.e., with
rosaries around his upper arms and neck and marks on his forehead and
nose]. Seeing him the Master said: "Very good! Your dress suits your
nature. You are on the right track. It seems that the Lord's name is
bubbling up from within. It has been suppressed for a long time, but
now it will manifest itself." Vijay bowed down to the Master and said: "
Sir, bless me. Don't push me away. I know you are God himself acting
like a human being." The Master replied: "The Mother knows every-
thing. I don't know anything. It is the Mother who speaks and does
everything through me." (13 November 1931)

I Doubted the Master

I used to address the Master as apani [a respectful term used for seniors
or revered persons] because I did not feel that he was my own uncle. As
I could not understand his behaviour, moods, or samadhi, a doubt arose
in my mind. [ thought: "The Master is an unlettered person, but still all
great scholars are defeated by him. Is he truly an Incarnation of God?"
One day I said to the Master: "A doubt has arisen in my mind about you.
I am confused." The Master replied: "Look, Ramlal. One cannot
understand this mystery through the intellect. You have seen jilipis [a
sweet]. From the outside they look dry, so how would one know that
they are full of sweet syrup inside? If you think of me as an avatar [a
Divine Incarnation], then you are blessed that you have the opportunity
to serve me. Besides, you are my blood relative. What else do you want?

In those days I did not recognize the Master's greatness. Although we
were his blood relatives, we did not realize who he was. But through his
grace, | have this much faith: that since we were born into his family, we
have found refuge at his lotus feet. From his own lips I heard that when a
man attains illumination, seven generations of his family before and
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after him become liberated. And to think that the Lord himself was born in
our family as a human being! Through his grace and his holy company we
too have had many visions and spiritual experiences. Thus he gave us faith
and devotion for him. (23 October 1931; The Eternal Companion, 3rd ed.,
1970, p. 132)

Sri Ramakrishna as the Kalpataru

On the afternoon of 1 January 1886, at the Cossipore garden house, the
Master said to me: "Ramlal, today I feel better. Let us go for a walk in
the courtyard." I said: "Yes, you look better. Let us go." The Master put
on his cap that covered his ears and carried a cane in his hand. I put on
a shawl and carefully helped him down the stairs. After strolling along
the garden path, the Master stood on the lawn and went into ecstasy. He
was surrounded by the devotees, who began showering flowers on him
and chanting hymns. He told them: "What more shall I say to you? Be
illumined!" Then he blessed some devotees by touching their chests. To
others he said that they would have to wait for a while.

I was then standing behind the Master and thinking: "All these devotees
have got some spiritual experiences, but what have I achieved? I only
carried the Master's waterpot and towel." As soon as this thought crossed
my mind, he looked at me and said: "Ramlal, what are you thinking?
Come here." He pushed aside my shawl and touched my chest, saying, '
Now see." It 1s hard for me to describe that wonderful, luminous form.
Before that, during my meditation I could see with my mind's eye only a
part of my Chosen Deity. When I saw his feet I could not see his face;
and again, when I saw his form from the face to the waist, I could not see
his feet. Moreover, whatever I saw never seemed to be alive. But no
sooner had the Master touched me that day than the whole form of my
Chosen Deity appeared in my heart as a living presence, looking benign
and effulgent. (1 January 1930; Sri Ramakrishna, The Great Master, 5th
edition, 1979, p. 1025)

"My Hands and Feet Are Burning"

At the Cossipore garden house during the Master's last illness, Swami
Niranjanananda would sit on the staircase to prevent anyone from entering
the Master's room. But the Master told his disciples to allow me to visit him
at any time. One day when I went to see him he got up and told me: "
Ramlal, my hands and feet are burning. Please bring some Ganga water and
sprinkle it on me." He was extremely restless. I asked, "What happened?"
He replied: "I came into this world secretly with a few close devotees, and
now Ram [Ram Chandra Datta] is spreading my name. He brings all sorts of
people here and asks me to touch and bless
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them. How much burden can I carry? I got this disease by taking the
sins of these people upon myself. Look, I shall not stay in this world
any longer." I consoled him: "No, no. You will not have to receive any
visitors or touch anybody." Then I brought the Ganga water and washed
his hands and feet, and gradually he calmed down.

The Master's body was very pure, and he was all-compassionate and a
saviour of souls. While touching his feet, people prayed for so many
things. Many people even criticized him, but the Master carried their
spiritual responsibilities as well. When the doctor saw the bleeding in
the Master's throat, he forbade him to talk. But the Master talked till the
last for the good of the devotees. (1 January 1930)

Sri Ramakrishna's Last Day

I was not present on the last day of the Master's life. I was sleeping in his
room at Dakshineswar. At two in the morning Senior Gopal and

somebody else [Latu] came from Cossipore and knocked on my door.

They told me: "Swamiji has asked us to bring you to Cossipore immedi-
ately. No one present there can ascertain whether the Master is in deep
samadhi or has actually given up his body. Swamiji said that since you
lived constantly with the Master for so many years, you would be able to
judge his condition correctly." I burst into tears and rushed to Cossi-pore
with them. I saw the Master lying flat on his back. His look was steady,
and he seemed to be smiling. I said: "I see signs of samadhi. But I

suggest that we call Captain [Vishwanath Upadhyay] who is also very
knowledgeable." Swamiji immediately sent somebody to call him. When
Captain came he also noticed signs of samadhi. He suggested that ghee [
clarified butter] be rubbed on the Master's backbone. At first the back-
bone felt slightly warm but gradually it turned cold. Captain realized
then that it was mahasamadhi and that the Master had passed away. The
Master went into samadhi at one o'clock in the morning. By noon his

face was starting to dry out and his eyes gradually closed. I heard that at
the last moment the Master had said only "Ma." (26 October 1931)

After Sri Ramakrishna's Passing Away

A young Ramait monk [a worshiper of Ramachandra] in Ayodhya had a
vision that God had again incarnated on earth, somewhere in the east. In
order to see him, the monk started on foot eastward from Ayodhya.
When he reached Bengal he heard that there was a great saint named Sri
Ramakrishna near Calcutta. He finally found Dakshineswar after a long
search and asked someone, "Where is Ramakrishna Para-mahamsa?"
The people of the Kali temple told him that the Master had just passed
away a few days before. Hearing this heartbreaking news,
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the monk exclaimed: "What! He passed away? I have come from Ayo-dhya
on foot [nearly a thousand miles] just to see him. I went through so much
hardship to get here and he has left the body!" The young monk began to
sob.

The manager of the Kali temple offered him some food from the temple

store but he refused it. He went to the Panchavati and stayed there for

two or three days without eating. One night Sri Ramakrishna appeared

before him and said: "You have not eaten anything for several days. I

have brought this pudding for you. Please eat it." He fed the monk and

disappeared.

The next morning I went to the Panchavati and found the monk liiii of joy. I
asked: "What happened? You were so unhappy yesterday. Why are you so

cheerful today?" Then he told me everything. He even showed me the

earthen bowl in which the Master had brought the pudding. [Ramlal

preserved that bowl for a long time, but somehow it was destroyed.] (
Udbodhan, vol. 49, no. 10)

[From: Sri Ramakrishna 0 Antaranga Prasanga, by Kamal Krishna Mittra (
Dakshineswar: K. K. Mittra), 1932; Udbodhan (Calcutta: Udbodhan Of-
fice), vol. 49, no. 10, 1947]
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Swami Vivekananda

Swami Vivekananda (1863-1902) met Sri Ramakrishna in 1881 when he
was a college student, and he associated closely with the Master for the
next five years. As the foremost disciple of the Master, his life was
closely linked with the later part of the Master's life. Swami

Vivekananda's reminiscences are thus scattered all over his biography:

In 1893 he brought the message of Vedanta to the West, and in 1897 he
founded the Ramakrishna Mission.

First Meeting with Sri Ramakrishna

My first visit to Sr1 Ramakrishna was at the temple garden at Dak-shineswar.
in his own room. That day I sang two songs.

As soon as I had finished the first song,! the Master stood up, took me by
the hand, and led me onto the northern verandah. It was winter, so the
open spaces between the pillars were covered with screens of mat-

Let us go back once more, O mind, to our own abode!
Here in this foreign land of earth
Why should we wander aimlessly in stranger's guise?
These living beings round about, and the five elements,
Are strangers to you, all of them; none is your own.
Why do you thus forget yourself,
In love with strangers, O my mind?
Why do you thus forget your own?

Ascend the path of truth, O mind! Unflaggingly climb,
With Love as the lamp to light your way.
As your provision for the journey, bring with you
The virtues, carefully concealed; for, like two highwaymen,
Greed and delusion wait to rob you of your wealth.
And keep beside you constantly,
As guaTds to shelter you from harm,
Calmness of mind and self-control.

(continued on next page)
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ting to keep out the north wind; and this meant that, when the door of the
room was closed, anyone standing on the verandah was hidden from both
inside and outside. As soon as we were on the verandah, the Master
closed the door. I thought he must be going to give me some instruction
in private. But what he said and did next was something I could never
have believed possible. He suddenly caught hold of my hand and began
shedding tears of joy. He said to me, affectionately as if to a familiar
friend: "You've come so late! Was that right? Couldn't you have guessed
how I've been waiting for you? My ears are nearly burned off, listening
to the talk of these worldly people. I thought I would burst, not having
anyone to tell how I really felt!" He went on like that raving and
weeping. And then suddenly he folded his palms together and began
addressing me as if I were some divine being: "I know who you are, My
Lord. You are Nara, the ancient sage, the incarnation of Narayana. You
have come back to earth to take away the sufferings and sorrows of
mankind."

I was absolutely dumbfounded. I said to myself: "What kind of a man is
this? He must be raving mad! How can he talk like this to me, who am
nobody — the son of Vishwanath Datta?" But I didn't answer him, and I
let this wonderful madman go on talking as he chose. Presently he asked
me to stay there on the verandah, and he went back into the room and
came out again bringing butter, rock candy, and a few pieces of sandesh;
and then he began feeding me with his own hands. I kept asking him to
give me the sweetmeats, so I could share them with my friends, but he
wouldn't. "They'll get some later," he said. "You take these for yourself.
" And he wouldn't be satisfied until I'd eaten all of them. Then he took
my hand and said, "Promise me  you'll come back here soon, alone." |
couldn't refuse his request; it was made so earnestly. So I had to say, "I
will." Then I went back into the room with him and sat down beside my
friends.

I sat and watched him. There was nothing wrong in his words,
movements, or behaviour towards others. Rather, from his spiritual words
and ecstatic states he seemed to be a man of genuine renunciation. And
there was a marked consistency between his words and life. He

(continued)
Companionship with holy men will be for you
A welcome rest-house by the road;
There rest your weary limbs awhile, asking your way,
If ever you should be in doubt, of him who watches there.
If anything along the path should frighten you,
Then loudly shout the name of the Lord;
For He 1s Ruler of that road,
And even Death must bow to Him.
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used the most simple language, and 1 thought, "Can this man be a great
teacher?" 1 crept near him and asked him the question which I had asked
so often, "Sir, have you seen God?" "Yes, I see him just as I see you here,
only in a much more intense sense." "God can be realized," he went on. "
One can see and talk to him as I am seeing and talking to you. But who
cares? People shed torrents of tears for their wife and children, for wealth
or property, but who does so for the sake of God? If one weeps sincerely
for him, he surely manifests himself." That impressed me at once. For the
first time I found a man who dared to say that he had seen God, that
religion was a reality to be felt, to be sensed in an infinitely more intense
way than we can sense the world. As I heard these things from his lips, I
could not but believe that he was saying them not like an ordinary
preacher, but from the depths of his own realizations. But I could not
reconcile his words with his strange conduct with me. So I concluded that
he must be a monomaniac. Yet I could not help acknowledging the
magnitude of his renunciation. "He may be a madman," I thought, "but
only the fortunate few can have such renunciation. Even if insane, this
man is the holiest of the holy, a true saint, and for that alone he deserves
the reverent homage of mankind!" With such conflicting thoughts I
bowed before him and begged leave to return to Calcutta.

Second Visit

I had no idea that the Dakshineswar temple was so far from Calcutta,
because | had been there only once before and that was in a carriage. This
time, it seemed as if the journey would never end, however far I walked.
But, after asking many people the way, I arrived at Dakshineswar at last
and went straight to the Master's room. I found him sitting, deep in his
own meditations, on the smaller bed which stands beside the bigger one.
There was no one with him. As soon as he saw me, he called me joyfully
to him and made me sit down on one end of the bed. He was in a strange
mood. He muttered something to himself which I couldn't understand,
looked hard at me, then rose and approached me. I thought we were about
to have another crazy scene. Scarcely had that thought passed through my
mind before he placed his right foot on my body. Immediately I had a
wonderful experience. My eyes were wide open, and I saw that everything
in the room, including the walls themselves, was whirling rapidly around
and receding, and at the same time, it seemed to me that my

consciousness of self, together with the entire universe, was about to
vanish into a vast, all-devouring wvoid. This destruction of my

consciousness of self seemed to me to be the same thing as death. 1 felt
that death was right before me, very close. Unable to control myself, I
cried out loudly, "Ah, what are you doing to me? Don't you know I have
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my parents at home?" When the Master heard this, he gave a loud laugh.
Then, touching my chest with his hand, he said: "All right let it stop
now. It needn't be done all at once. It will happen in its own good time."
To my amazement, this extraordinary vision of mine vanished as sud-
denly as it had come. I returned to my normal state and saw things inside
and outside the room standing stationary, as before.

Although it has taken so much time to describe all this, it actually
happened in only a few moments. And yet it changed my whole way of
thinking. I was bewildered and kept trying to analyze what had hap-
pened. I had seen how this experience had begun and ended in obe-
dience to the will of this extraordinary man. I had read about hypnotism
in books and I wondered if this was something of the same kind. But
my heart refused to believe that it was. For even people of great
willpower can only create such conditions when they are working on
weak minds. And my mind was by no means weak. Up to then, in fact, I
had been proud of my intelligence and willpower. This man did not
bewitch me or reduce me to his puppet. On the contrary, when I first
met him, I had decided that he was mad. Why then should I have
suddenly found myself in this state? It seemed an utter mystery to me.
But I determined to be on my guard, lest he should get further influence
over me in the future.

The next moment I thought, "How can a man who shatters to pieces a
resolute and strong mind like mine be dismissed as a lunatic?" Yet that
was just the conclusion at which one would arrive from his effusiveness
on our first meeting — unless he were an Incarnation of God, which was
indeed a far cry. So I was in a dilemma about the real nature of my
experience as well as about the truth of this wonderful man, who was
obviously as pure and simple as a child. My rationalistic mind received
an unpleasant rebuff at this failure in judging the true state of things.
But I was determined to fathom the mystery somehow.

Thoughts like these occupied my mind during the whole of that day. But
he became quite another man after that incident and, as on the previous
occasion, treated me with great kindness and cordiality. His behaviour
towards me was like that of a man who meets an old friend or relative
after a long separation. He seemed not to be satisfied with entertaining
and taking all possible care of me. This remarkably loving treatment
drew me all the more to him. At last, finding that the day was coming to
a close, I asked leave to go. He seemed very dejected at this and gave
me permission only after I had promised to come again at my earliest
convenience.
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Experience of Cosmic Consciousness

Knowing Naren's inherent nature, Sri Ramakrishna instructed him in monistic
Vedanta, which teaches that the individual soul and Brahman are identical.
One day Naren was telling Hazra about Vedantic nondualism and his
unwillingness to accept it. "Can it be," he said, "that the water pot is God, that
the drinking vessel is God, that everything we see and all of us are God?"
Naren laughed scornfully at the idea and Hazra joined in. While they were
laughing, Ramakrishna came up to them. "What are you two talking about?"
he asked Naren affectionately; then, without waiting for an answer, he touched
Naren and went into samadhi. Naren related the effect of the touch:

At the marvellous touch of the Master, my mind underwent a complete
revolution. I was aghast to realize that there really was nothing
whatever in the entire universe but God. I remained silent, wondering
how long this state of mind would continue. It didn't pass off all day. I
got back home, and I felt just the same there; everything I saw was God.
I sat down to eat, and I saw that everything — the plate, the food, my
mother who was serving it, and I myself — everything was God and

nothing else but God. I swallowed a couple of mouthfuls and then sat
still without speaking. My mother asked me lovingly: "Why are you so
quiet? Why don't you eat?" That brought me back to everyday con-
sciousness, and I began eating again. But, from then on, I kept having
the same experience, no matter what I was doing eating, drinking,

sitting, lying down, going to college, strolling along the street. It was a
kind of intoxication; I can't describe it. If I was crossing a street and
saw a carriage coming towards me I didn't have the urge, as I would
ordinarily, to get out of its way for fear of being run over. For I said to
myself: "I am that carriage. There's no difference between it and me."
During that time, I had no sensation in my hands or my feet. When I ate
food, I felt no satisfaction from it; it was as if someone else was eating.
Sometimes I would lie down in the middle of a meal, and then get up
again after a few minutes and go on eating. Thus it happened that on
those days I would eat far more than usual, but this never upset me. My
mother became alarmed; she thought I was suffering from some terrible
disease. "He won't live long," she'd say.

When that first intoxication lost part of its power, I began to see the
world as though it were in a dream. When I went for a walk around
Cornwallis Square [now Azadhind Bag], I used to knock my head
against the iron railings to find out if they were only dream-railings or
real ones. The loss of feeling in my hands and feet made me afraid that
I was going to be paralyzed. When I did at last return to normal
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consciousness I felt convinced that the state I had been in was a revela-
tion of nondualistic experience. So then I knew that what is written in
the scriptures about this experience is all true.

Days of Ecstasy at Dakshineswar

It is impossible to give others any idea of the ineffable joy we derived
from the presence of the Master. It is really beyond our understanding
how he could train us, without our knowing it, through fun and play, and
thus mould our spiritual life. As the master wrestler proceeds with great
caution and restraint with the beginner now overpowering him in the
struggle with great difficulty, as it were, and again allowing himself to
be defeated to strengthen the pupil's self-confidence in exactly the
same manner did Sri Ramakrishna handle us. Realizing that the Atman [
Self], the source of infinite strength, exists in every individual, pigmy
though he might be, he was able to see the potential giant in all. He
could clearly discern the latent spiritual power which would in the
fullness of time manifest itself. Holding up that bright picture to view, he
would speak highly of us and encourage us. Again he would warn us lest
we should obstruct this future consummation by becoming entangled in
worldly desires, and moreover he would keep us under control by
carefully observing even the minute details of our life. All this was done
silently and unobtrusively. That was the secret of his training of the
disciples and of his moulding of their lives.

Once 1 felt that I could not practise deep concentration during medi-
tation. I told him of it and sought his advice and direction. He told me
his personal experiences in the matter and gave me instructions. I
remember that as I sat down to meditate during the early hours of the
morning, my mind would be disturbed and diverted by the shrill note of
the whistle of a neighbouring jute mill. I told him about it, and he
advised me to concentrate my mind on the sound of the whistle itself. I
followed his advice and derived much benefit from it.

On another occasion I felt difficulty in totally forgetting my body during
meditation and concentrating the mind wholly on the ideal. I went to him
for counsel, and he gave me the very instruction which he himself had
received from Tota Puri [his guru] while practising samadhi according to
Vedantic disciplines. He sharply pressed between my eyebrows with his
fingernail and said, "Now concentrate your mind on this painful
sensation!" I found I could concentrate easily on that sensation as long as
I liked, and during that period I completely let go the consciousness of the
other parts of my body, not to speak of their causing any distraction
hindering my meditation. The solitude of the Panchavati,
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associated with the various spiritual realizations of the Master, was also the
most suitable place for our meditation.

Besides meditation and spiritual exercises, we used to spend a good deal
of time there in sheer fun and merrymaking. Sri Ramakrishna also joined
in with us, and by taking part, enhanced our innocent pleasure. We used
to run and skip about, climb on the trees, swing from the creepers, and at
times hold merry picnics. On the first day that we picnicked the Master
noticed that I had cooked the food myself, and he partook of it. I knew
that he could not take food unless it was cooked by brahmins, and
therefore I had arranged for his meal at the Kali temple. But he said, "It
won't be wrong for me to take food from such a pure soul as you." In
spite of my repeated remonstrations, he enjoyed the food I had cooked
that day.

" Ramakrishna Dedicated Me ™

Early in 1884 Naren's father Vishwanath died of a heart attack; he had been
ailing for some time. When the time came to look into Vishwanath's financial
affairs, it was found that he had been spending more than he earned and had left
nothing but debts. Some relatives even tried to get a share in the family home by
means of a lawsuit. They lost the suit, but Naren was still faced by his duty, as the
oldest male member of the family, to support his mother and brothers. He had
never known adversity of any kind before. He narrated his struggles:

Even before the prescribed period of mourning was over, I was running
hither and thither in search of a job. Dizzy from lack of food, I had to
go from office to office barefoot in the blazing sun, carrying my
application papers. Everywhere I met with a refusal. From that first
experience I learned that unselfish sympathy is very rare in this world;
there i1s no place here for the poor and the weak. Even those who, only a
few weeks previously, would have regarded it as a piece of luck if they
could do me a favour, now made wry reluctant faces, though they could
easily have helped me if they had wished. One day, during that time,
when 1 was walking around in the sun, the soles of my feet became
blistered. I was completely exhausted and had to sit down in the shade
of the Ochterloney Monument on the Maidan. A friend who happened
to be with me wanted to console me, so he sang:

Here blows the wind, the breath of Brahman —It
is his grace we feel —

But when I heard that song, I felt as if he were beating me violently on the
head. Thinking of the helplessness cf my mother and my brothers, I
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was filled with resentment and despair. "Be quiet!" I told him. "That
fanciful nonsense is all right for people living in the lap of luxury
people who have no idea what hunger is people whose nearest and
dearest aren't going in rags and starving. No doubt it sounds true and
beautiful to them — as it did to me, in the old days. But now I've seen
what life is really like. That song is just a pack of lies."

I dare say my friend was terribly hurt by my words. How could he
understand the grinding poverty which had made me utter them? Some
mornings, when I got up, I would find that there wasn't enough food for
all of us, so I'd tell my mother, "A friend has invited me to lunch." On
such days I had nothing to eat, for I had no money in my pocket. I was
too proud to say anything about this to anyone outside my family.
Sometimes rich men would invite me into their houses to sing and play
at their parties, and I went, just as I had always done. Most of them
never concerned themselves about how I was getting along. A very few
used to ask, "Why do you look so pale and sad today?" But only one of
them ever found out — and that wasn't through me  how things really
were. He used to send money to my mother from time to time, anony-
mously. I am under an eternal debt to him.

In spite of all these trials and tribulations, I did not lose my faith in the
existence of God, nor did I doubt that "God is good." I used to wake up
from sleep in the morning, remember the Lord, and leave my bed taking
his name. Then with firm determination and hope I went from place to
place in search of some means of earning money. I was leaving my bed
as usual, calling on the Lord, when one day my mother heard my words
from the adjacent room and said bitterly: "Stop, lad. You have been
constantly repeating the name of the Lord since your childhood

and what has he done for you?" The words hurt me terribly. Cut to the
quick, T pondered: "Does God actually exist? If so, does he hear the
plaintive prayer of man? Why then is there no response to my many
prayers to him? Whence is so much evil in the creation of a benign
Creator? Why is there so much calamity in the kingdom of one who is
all Bliss?" . . . My heart was pierced through by a feeling of wounded
love, and doubt 1n the existence of God assailed me.

It was against my nature to do anything and conceal it from others.
Even as a child, I had never been able to conceal my least thought or
action, either from fear or any other motive. So it wasn't surprising that
I now began to tell people aggressively that God did not exist; and that,
even if he did exist, it was no use calling on him because it produced no
results. Of course, the rumour soon spread around that I had become an
atheist, and furthermore that I was mixing with people of bad character
and visiting houses of ill repute.
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Such news travels fast. It didn't take long for these words of mine, in a
completely distorted version, to reach the ears of the Master, not to
mention those of his devotees in Calcutta. Some of them came to visit
me, to find out the truth, and they made it obvious that they believed at
least part of what they had heard, if not all. I was bitterly wounded to
realize that they could think so little of me. I told them that it was
cowardice to believe in God merely from fear of hell. Quoting Hume,
Mill, Bain, Comte, and other Western philosophers, I argued fiercely that
there is no evidence of the existence of God. And so they went away,
more than ever convinced, as 1 afterwards learned, of my downfall. In my
defiant mood, this actually made me happy. Then the thought came to me
that perhaps the Master now believed the same thing. As soon as I
thought that, I felt terrible pain. But I said to myself, "Let him believe it,
then. If he does, I can't help it. People's good or bad opinions are worth
nothing anyhow." Later, I discovered that the Master i« heard all of
these lies about me. At first he had made no comment. Then, when one of
the devotees wept and said, "Sir, we never dreamed Naren would sink so
low!" the Master cried out excitedly, Silence, you scoundrels! Mother
has told me that he could never do such things. If you talk about this
anymore, [ won't have you in the room!"

I now became absolutely indifferent to the praise or blame of the world.
I was firmly convinced that I wasn't born to earn money, support a
family, or seek worldly enjoyments. Secretly, I was preparing to
renounce the world, as my grandfather had done. The day arrived on
which I had decided to start life as a wandering monk — and then I
heard that, on that very day, the Master was coming to the house of a
devotee in Calcutta. I thought this was very fortunate: 1 should see my
guru before I left home forever. But, as soon as I met the Master, he told
me imperiously, "You must come with me to Dakshinewar today." I
offered various excuses, but he wouldn't take no for an answer. I had to
ride back with him. In the carriage we didn't speak much. When we got
to Dakshineswar 1 sat in his room for some time. Others were present.
Then the Master went into a state of ecstasy. He came over to me
suddenly, took my hand in his, and sang, with tears pouring down his
face:

We are afraid to speak, and yet we are afraid to keep still;

Our minds, O Radha, half believe that we are about to lose you!
All this time I had fought back the strong emotion I was feeling. Now I couldn'
t do so any longer, and my tears poured down like his. I felt sure that the
Master knew all about my plans. The others were astonished to
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see us behave in this way. After the Master had returned to normal
consciousness, one of them asked him what was the matter. He smiled
and answered, "It's just something between the two of us." That night he
sent the others away and called me to him and said: "I know you have
come to the world to do Mother's work. You can never lead a worldly
life. But, for my sake, stay with your family as long as I'm alive."

I bade good-bye to the Master and returned home the next day. And
immediately a hundred thoughts about the family occupied my mind. I
began going from place to place now as before and made various kinds
of efforts. I worked in the office of an attorney and translated a few
books, as a result of which I earned a little money and the household
was managed somehow. But these were all temporary jobs, and in the
absence of any permanent work no smooth arrangement for the main-
tenance of my mother and brothers could be made. I remembered a little
later: "God grants the Master's prayers. I shall make him pray for me so
that the suffering of my mother and brothers for want of food and
clothing might be removed. He will never refuse to do so for my sake."
I hurried to Dakshineswar and persistently asked him to pray to Mother
that the pecuniary difficulty of my mother and brothers might be
removed. The Master said to me affectionately: "My child, I cannot say
such words, you know. Why don't you yourself pray? You don't accept
Mother. That is why you suffer so much." I replied: "I have no
knowledge of Mother. Please pray to Mother yourself for my sake. You
must pray. I will not leave you unless you do so." The Master said with
affection: "I prayed to Mother many times indeed to remove your
sufferings. But as you do not accept Mother, she does not grant the
prayer. Well, today i1s Tuesday, a day especially sacred to Mother.
Mother will, I say, grant you whatever you ask for. Go to the temple
tonight, bow down to her, and pray for a boon. My affectionate Mother is
the Power of Brahman. She is pure Consciousness embodied. She has
given birth to the universe according to her will. What can she not do, if
she wills?"

A firm faith arose in my mind that all the sufferings would certainly
come to an end as soon as I prayed to Mother, inasmuch as the Master
had said so. I waited for the night in great expectancy. The night arrived
at last. Three hours of the night had elapsed when the Master asked me
to go to the holy temple. As I was going, a sort of profound inebriation
possessed me. I was reeling. A firm conviction gripped me that I would
actually see Mother and hear her words. I forgot everything else and
became completely merged in that thought alone. Coming into the
temple, I saw that Mother was actually pure Consciousness, was actually
living, and was really the fountainhead of infinite love and beauty. My
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heart swelled with loving devotion, and, beside myself with bliss, I made
repeated salutations to her, praying: "Mother, grant me discrimination,
grant me detachment, grant me divine knowledge and devotion. Ordain
that I may always have an unobstructed vision of you." My heart was
flooded with peace. The whole universe completely disappeared and
Mother alone remained filling my heart.

No sooner had I returned to the Master than he asked, "Did you pray to
Mother for the removal of your worldly wants?" Startled at his question,
I said: "No, sir, I forgot to do so. So what should I do now?" He said, "
Go quickly again and pray to her." I started for the temple once more,
and coming to Mother's presence, became inebriated again. I forgot
everything, bowed down to her repeatedly, and prayed for divine

knowledge and devotion before I came back. The Master smiled and
said, "Well, did you tell her this time?" I was startled again and said: "
No, sir. Hardly had I seen Mother when 1 forgot everything on account
of the influence of an indescribable Divine Power and prayed for knowl-
edge and devotion only. What's to be done now?" The Master said: "Silly
boy, could you not control yourself a little and make that prayer? Go
once more, if you can, and tell her those words. Quick!"

I started a third time, but as soon as I entered the temple a formidable
sense of shame occupied my heart. I thought what a trifling thing have I
come to ask of Mother! It is, as the Master says, just like the folly of
asking a king, having received his grace, for gourds and pumpkins. Ah!
How low is my intellect! Overpowered with shame and aversion I bowed
down to her over and over again, saying: "I don't want anything else,
Mother. Do grant me divine knowledge and devotion only." When 1
came out from the temple, it occurred to me that it was certainly the
play of the Master. Otherwise, how was it that I could not speak the
words though I came to pray to her as many as three times? Afterwards I
insisted that he ensure my mother's and brothers' freedom from lack of
food and clothing, saying, "It is certainly you who made me intoxicated
that way." He said affectionately to me: "My child, I can never offer
such a prayer for anyone. It does not indeed come out of my mouth. You
would, I told you, get from Mother whatever you wanted. But you could
not ask her for it. You are not meant for worldly happiness. What can I
do?" I said: "That won't do, sir. You must utter the prayer for my sake.
It is my firm conviction that they will be free from all sufferings if you
only say so." As I kept on persisting, he said, "All right they will never
lack plain food and clothing."

Ramakrishna dedicated me to her [Divine Mother]. And I believe that she
guides me in every little thing I do and just does what she likes with
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me. Yet I fought so long. I loved the man [Sri Ramakrishna], and that
held me. I thought him the purest man I had ever seen, and I know that
he loved me as my own father and mother had not the power to do.

Experience of Nirvikalpa Samadhi

One day in the Cossipore garden, I expressed my prayer [for nir-vikalpa
samadhi] to Sri Ramakrishna with great earnestness. Then in the

evening, at the hour of meditation, I lost consciousness of the body and
felt that it was absolutely nonexistent. I felt that the sun, moon, space,
time, ether, and all had been reduced to a homogeneous mass and then
melted far away into the unknown. Body-consciousness almost van-
ished, and I nearly merged in the Supreme. But I had just a trace of the
feeling of ego so I could again return to the world of relativity from
samadhi. In this state of samadhi all difference between "I" and "Brah-
man" goes away, everything is reduced to unity, like the water of the
Infinite Ocean -- water everywhere, nothing else exists. Language and
thought, all fail there. Then only is the state "beyond mind and speech"
realized in its actuality. Otherwise, as long as the religious aspirant
thinks or says, "I am Brahman" "I" and "Brahman," these two entities
persist there is the involved semblance of duality. After that experi-
ence, even after trying repeatedly, I failed to bring back the state of
samadhi. On informing Sri Ramakrishna about it, he said: "If you remain
day and night in that state, the work of the Divine Mother will not be
accomplished. Therefore you won't be able to induce that state again.

When your work is finished, it will come again."

Sri Ramakrishna Transmitted Power

Two or three days before Sri Ramakrishna's passing away, she whom he used
to call "Kali" entered this body. It is she who takes me here and there and
makes me work, without letting me remain quiet or allowing me to look to
my personal comforts.

Before his leaving the body, he called me to his side one day, and asking
me to sit before him, looked steadily at me and went into samadhi. Then I
felt that a subtle force like an electric shock was entering my body! In a
little while I also lost outward consciousness and sat motionless. How
long I stayed in that condition I do not remember. When consciousness
returned I found Sri Ramakrishna shedding tears. On questioning him, he
answered me affectionately: "Today, giving you my all, I have become a
beggar. With this power you are to do much work for the good of the
world before you return." I feel that that power is constantly directing me
to this or that work. This body has not been made for remaining idle.
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Sri Ramakrishna Revealed Himself

One day while Sri Ramakrishna was staying at the Cossipore garden, his
body in imminent danger of falling off forever, I was sitting by the side
of his bed and saying in my mind, "Well, now if you can declare that
you are God, then only will I believe you are really God himself." It was
only two days before he passed away. Immediately he looked up
towards me and said, "He who was Rama, he who was Krishna, verily is
he now Ramakrishna in this body, and not in your Vedantic senseM2 At
this I was struck dumb.

[From: Sri Ramakrishna, The Great Master, by Swami Saradananda (
Madras: Sri Ramakrishna Math), vol. 2, 1979; Ramakrishna and His
Disciples, by Christopher Isherwood (London: Methuen & Co., Ltd.), 1965;
Life of Swami Vivekananda, by His Eastern & Western Disciples (Calcutta:
Advaita Ashrama), vol. 1, 1979; The Complete Works of Swami
Vivekananda (Mayavati: Advaita Ashrama), vols. VI & VII, 1968-69]

- A few words may be said here about the meaning of the Incarnation in the Hindu
religious tradition. One of the main doctrines of Vedanta is the divinity of the soul: every
soul, in reality, i1s Brahman. Thus it may be presumed that there is no difference between
an Incarnation and an ordinary man. To be sure, from the standpoint of the Absolute, or
Brahman, no such difference exists. But from the relative standpoint, where multiplicity is
perceived, a difference must be admitted. Embodied human beings reflect godliness in
varying measure. In an Incarnation this godliness is fully manifest. Therefore an Incarna-
tion is unlike an ordinary mortal or even an illumined saint.

To give an illustration: There is no difference between a clay lion and a clay mouse, from
the standpoint of the clay. Both become the same substance when dissolved into clay. But
the difference between the lion and the mouse, from the standpoint of form, is clearly seen.
Likewise, as Brahman, an ordinary man is identical with an Incarnation. Both become the
same Brahman when they attain final illumination. But in the relative state of name and
form, which is admitted by Vedanta, the difference between them is accepted. According to
the Bhagavad Gita (IV. 6-8), Brahman in times of spiritual crisis assumes a human body
through Its own inscrutable power, called maya. Though birthless, immutable, and the Lord
of all beings, yet in every age Brahman appears to be incarnated in a human body for the
protection of the good and the punishment of the wicked.
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Swami Brahmananda

Swami Brahmananda (1863-1922) met Sri Ramakrishna in the middle

of 1881 and lived with him almost constantly until the Master's passing
away. The Master had a vision about him prior to their first meeting, and
as soon as he saw Brahmananda, recognized him as his spiritual son. The
swami later became the first president of the Ramakrishna Order.

Living with Sri Ramakrishna

Some devotees would tell Sri Ramakrishna about their spiritual ex-
periences. Hearing them, one young disciple® asked the Master to grant him
some spiritual experiences. The Master told him: "Look. That kind of
experience comes when one practises meditation and prayer regularly and
systematically. Wait. You will get it eventually."

A couple of days later, in the evening, the young disciple saw the Master
walking towards the Divine Mother's temple, and he followed him. Sri
Ramakrishna entered the temple, but the disciple did not dare go inside,
so he sat in the natmandir [the hall in front of the Mother's temple] and
began to meditate. After a while he suddenly saw a brilliant light, like
that of a million suns, rushing towards him from the shrine of the Divine
Mother. He was frightened and ran to the Master's room.

A little later Sri Ramakrishna returned from the shrine. Seeing the
young disciple in his room, he said: "Hello! Did you sit for meditation
this evening?" "Yes, I did," answered the young disciple, and he related
to the Master what had happened. Then the Master told him: "You
complain that you don't experience anything. You ask, 'What is the use
of practising meditation?’ So why did you run away when you had an
experience?"

It is natural to experience depression now and then. I also felt like that once
while I was in Dakshineswar. I was then quite young and the

This young disciple was Swami Brahmananda himself.
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Master was about fifty years old, so I was shy about speaking openly
with him. One day I was meditating in the Kali temple. I could not
concentrate my mind. This made me very sad. I said to myself: "I have
been living here so long, yet I have not achieved anything. What is the
use of staying here then? Forget it! [ am not going to say anything about
it to the Master. If this depressed condition continues another two or
three days, I shall return home. There my mind will be occupied with
different things." Having decided this in the shrine, I returned to the
Master's room. The Master was then walking on the verandah. Seeing
me, he also entered the room. It was customary after returning from the
shrine to salute the Master and then eat a light breakfast. As soon as I
saluted the Master, he said, "Look. When you returned from the shrine, I
saw that your mind seemed to be covered with a thick net." I realized
that he knew everything, so I said, "Sir, you know the bad condition of
my mind." He then wrote something on my tongue. Immediately I forgot
all my painful depression and was overwhelmed with an inexpressible
JAys long as I lived with him I had spontaneous recollection and
contemplation of God. An ecstatic joy filled me all the time. That is why
one requires a powerful guru — one who has realized God. Before
initiation the guru and the disciple should test each other for a long time.
Otherwise there may be regrets afterwards. This is no passing relation-
ship.
Ah, how joyfully we lived with the Master at Dakshineswar! Sometimes
we would be convulsed with side-splitting laughter by his humour and
wit. What we now cannot experience by meditation, we then attained
automatically. If my mind went astray even a little, he would understand
it from my appearance and would pass his hand over my chest, setting
my mind right. And how free I was with him! One day, on the
semicircular west porch, I was rubbing oil on his body. For some reason
I got angry with him. I threw away the bottle of oil and strode off with
the intention of never returning. I got as far as Jadu Mallik's garden
house but could not move further. I sat down. In the meantime he had
sent Ramlal to call me back. When I returned he said: "Look. Could you
go? | drew a boundary line there."
On another occasion I did something wrong and became extremely penitent. |
went to confess it to him. As soon as I arrived he asked me to follow him
with his water jug. While returning he said: "You did this certain thing
yesterday. Never do it again." I was surprised. I wondered how he had
known.
Another day when I returned from Calcutta he said: "Why can't I look at you?
Have you done anything wrong?" "No," I replied, because I
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understood "wrong action" to mean stealing, robbery, adultery, and so
on. The Master again asked me, "Did you tell any lie?" Then I
remembered that the day before, while chatting and joking, 1 had told
an untruth.

There is nothing outside. Everything 1s inside. People are fond of
music, but they do not realize that the music we hear with our ears is
trivial compared to the music within. How sweet and soothing it is!
During his meditation in the Panchavati, Sri Ramakrishna used to listen
to the melody of the vina [a stringed instrument] within.

Once | was meditating in the Panchavati at noon while the Master was
talking about the manifestation of Brahman as sound [Shabda-Brah-man].
Listening to that discussion, even the birds in the Panchavati began to sing
Vedic songs and I heard them.

The Master's Spiritual States

Holy company is necessary. When one sees and hears holy people,
spiritual feelings arise in the mind and doubts go away. One imbibes
deeper impressions by observing a pure, God-intoxicated life than by
reading hundreds of books. Adhar Sen [a devotee of Sri Ramakrishna]
used to visit the Master quite often accompanied by a school subinspec-
tor, who sometimes experienced ecstasy. One day when they arrived at
Dakshineswar the Master was in samadhi. There was such a smile on his
face, as if it could not contain so much joy. Then Adhar said to his friend:
"Seeing your trance, I conceived a disgust for it. It seemed to suggest
great suffering within you. Can divine ecstasy ever cause pain? The
blissful ecstasy of the Master has opened my eyes. I would have found it
impossible to come here anymore if his ecstasy had been like yours."
Doubt would have remained in Adhar's mind had he not gone to the
Master and seen his samadhi. This is the result of holy company.

Usually Sri Ramakrishna never slept for more than an hour or so at night.
He would pass the night sometimes in samadhi, sometimes singing
devotional songs, and sometimes chanting the Lord's name. 1 often
saw him in samadhi for an hour or more. In that state he could not talk in
spite of repeated efforts. Regaining outer consciousness, he would say:
"Look. When 1 am in samadhi I want to tell you my experiences, but at
that time I lose my power of speech." After samadhi, he used to mutter
something. It seemed to me that he was talking with somebody. I heard
that in earlier years the Master stayed in samadhi most of the time.

The Master would go into different kinds of samadhi at different times.
Sometimes his whole body would become stiff like a log. Coming down
from this state, he could easily regain normal consciousness. At other
times, however, when he was absorbed in deep samadhi, it would
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take a longer period for him to return to consciousness of the outer
world. On such occasions he would take a deep breath after gasping for
a while, like a drowning man coming up out of water. Even after he had
composed himself, he would talk like a drunkard for some time, and not
all of his speech was intelligible. At that time he would often express
some small desire: "I shall eat sukta [a bitter squash curry]," "I shall
smoke tobacco," and so on. And sometimes he would rub his face,
moving his hands up and down.

[Swami Brahmananda then raised a question himself and continued the
conversation.] Can you tell me why the Master made rapid spiritual
progress without having any particular external help? It is hard to
discern any cause other than a few inborn samskaras [tendencies]. Is it
not a miracle? There are many more wonders in his life. Once a monk
gave the Master a metal image of Ramlala [the child Rama]. When the
Master carried that image to the Ganga for a bath, it would swim in the
river. The Master himself told us this. Under such circumstances how
does one differentiate between matter and consciousness?

The Master said that in the beginning he did not feel any strong desire to
renounce the world, but a spiritual tempest blew over him which changed his
whole life.

Before the Master passed away at the Cossipore garden house, he
would tell us about his visions of the Infinite. One day Girish and
Swamis Vivekananda, Ramakrishnananda, Niranjanananda, and 1 were
present in his room. We were then young boys, but Girish was elderly
and extremely intelligent. Hearing a few words about the Infinite from
the Master, Girish exclaimed: "Sir, don't talk anymore. I get dizzy."
Oh, what a conversation! The Master used to say: "Shukadeva is like an
ant that is satisfied with a small particle of sugar. Rama, Krishna, and
other Incarnations are like bunches of grapes hanging on the tree of
Satchid-ananda." These are mere thoughts about the Infinite. It is hard
to comprehend.

On one occasion Sri Ramakrishna said: "One day as I was meditating in
the Kali temple, I saw in a vision the veils of maya disappearing one
after another. In another vision the Divine Mother showed me the light
of Brahman, which surpassed the light of even millions of suns together.
I then saw that a luminous form emerged from that infinite light and
again merged back into its source. I experienced that the formless
Brahman took a form and again became formless."

Oh, what superhuman power the Master had! At that time we thought it
was merely a peculiar power with him, but we could not understand the
nature of it. Now we realize what a wonderful power it was! One day I
said to him: "Sir, I cannot get rid of lust. What shall I do?"
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He touched me in the region of the heart, muttering some indistinct
words. All lust vanished from me forever! I have never felt its existence
since then. Do you see the wonder of it?

I never saw him manifest any powers such as anima [the power to
assume minute forms] or others, but he had a very clear insight into
human character. I witnessed a number of supernatural things in his life.

The Master's Spiritual Instructions

It would have been wonderful if the Master's sayings, especially those
about his devotional practices, spiritual unfoldment, and experiences,

could have been recorded exactly and correctly that is to say, imme-
diately after hearing them from him. When he talked about knowledge [
jnana], he did not talk about anything else. Again, when he talked about
devotion [bhakti], he spoke of nothing but devotion. He repeatedly

imprinted in our minds that worldly knowledge is insignificant and
futile, that one must exert oneself to attain spiritual knowledge, devo-
tion, and love alone.

The Master could seldom sleep at night. He did not allow the boys who
lived with him to sleep either. When others had gone to bed he would
wake up his disciples, saying: "What is this? Have you come here to
sleep?" Then he would instruct each disciple and send him for

meditation to the Panchavati, Kali temple, or Shiva temple, according to
his inclination. After practising japam and meditation as directed, each
would return to the room and sleep. Thus the Master made his disciples
work hard. Often he would say: "Three classes of people stay awake at
night: the yogi, the enjoyer, and the sick person. You are all yogis, so
sleeping at night is not meant for you."

Sri Ramakrishna used to say, "Eat as much as you like during the day
but eat sparingly at night." The idea is that the full meal taken at noon
will be easily digested, and if you eat lightly at night, your body will
remain light and you can easily concentrate the mind. A heavy meal at
night produces laziness and sleep.

Sri Ramakrishna used to encourage everybody to practise meditation. A
person falls from spiritual life if he does not practise meditation

regularly. The Master asked his guru Tota Puri, "You have attained
perfection, so why do you still practise meditation?" Pointing to his

shining brass pot, Tota Puri replied, "If you do not clean brass every
day, it will be covered with stains." The Master used to say: "The sign
of true meditation is that one forgets one's surroundings and body. One
will not feel even a crow sitting on one's head." Sri Ramakrishna
attained that state. Once while he was meditating in the natmandir, a
crow sat on his head.
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The temple garden of Dakshineswar, which Rani Rasmani had built,
provided everything Sri Ramakrishna needed for practising sadhana. If
you have true faith, love, and devotion, God will provide everything you
need.

A monk saved ten thousand rupees in a bank. Hearing this, the Master said, "
He who calculates pros and cons and plans for the future will ruin his
spiritual life."

Usually the Master would not allow anyone to stay with him for more
than two or three days, but once a young man stayed with him for several
days. This annoyed some devotees, and they complained to the Master
that he was teaching the young man the path of renunciation. The Master
answered: "Let him take up a worldly life. Am I dissuading him from it?
Let him first attain knowledge and then enter the world. Do I teach
everybody to renounce lust and gold? I talk about renunciation to the
ones who need only a little encouragement." He used to say to the rest, "
Go and enjoy hog-plum pickle, and come here for medicine when you
have colic."

Sometimes the Master would ask people: "Can you tell me what kind of
state I am passing through? What makes me go so often to those who
cannot buy me a penny's worth of puffed sugar cakes and who have not
even the means to offer me a torn mat to sit on?" He used to explain
afterwards: "I find that certain people will easily attain success. It will
be very difficult for the rest, for they are, as it were, pots for curd. One
cannot keep milk in them." He would tell them, "I pray for you so that
you may realize God quickly."

One day when the topic of the karmbmijass came up in the course of
conversation, Girish Ghosh [a devotee of the Master]| sarcastically re-
marked that he would write a drama about them. Hearing this, the
Master gravely said: "You see, some people in that sect also have
attained perfection. It too is a path."

One day Swami Turiyananda asked the Master, "How can I get rid of
lust?" The Master replied: "Why should it be gotten rid of Turn it in
another direction." He said the same thing about anger, greed, infatua-
tion, and other passions. These words of the Master inspired the young
disciple.

The Master used to say, "Wherever there is extreme longing, God
reveals himself more." He also said to some people, while pointing to
himself: "Have love for this. That will do." Oh! Such a wonderful play
is over!

2 Kartabhajas a minor sect of Vaishnavas (worshippers of Vishnu).
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Again, he used to say, "One needs intense longing to realize God." In
this connection the Master often told a story: Once an aspirant asked his
teacher how to realize God. The teacher, withdut answering, took the

disciple to the nearest pond and held him under the water. After a while,
when the student was extremely restless and about to collapse, the

teacher pulled him out of the water and asked, "How did you feel under
the water?" "I was dying for a breath of air," he answered. "When you
feel like that for God," said the teacher, "you will realize him."

Another time he said: "Do you know what type of love is necessary for
God-realization? As a dog with a wound in its head becomes frantic

and jumps around, so one should desperately seek God."

The Master used to say that there should not be any theft [i.e., hypocrisy]
in the inner chamber of the heart. He had great affection for the simple-
hearted. He used to say: "I don't care for flattery. I love the person who
calls on God sincerely." The Master also said that all impurities of the
mind disappear by calling on God with a sincere heart.

Sri Ramakrishna and Swami Vivekananda

Sri Ramakrishna looked upon all as God. Once Swami Vivekananda said
to him, "Sir, since you love us so much, will you finally turn out to be
another Jada Bharata?"? The Master replied: "One becomes a Jada Bharata
by thinking about inert objects, but I think only of consciousness. The day
I feel attached to you, I shall drive you all away."

One day the Master did not speak to Swamiji [Swami Vivekananda] for
some reason, but Swamiji was unperturbed and remained cheerful.
Observing this, the Master said, "He is a great soul." On another day
when Keshab Sen [a devotee of the Master] eulogized Swamiji, the
Master told him: "Do not praise him so much. He has yet to blossom
out."

At first Swami Vivekananda [then known as Narendra] indulged in a lot
of dry discussion with the Master. At that time he believed that God
was only formless. He even told the Master, "Sir, these visions of yours
are all hallucinations." He used to ridicule those who bowed down to
the gods and goddesses in the temples. Some devotees were annoyed

- In ancient times there was a king named Jada Bharata, who spent the last years of his
life as a recluse in the forest. One day he saw a pregnant deer being attacked by a lion.
She jumped into the river and while trying to get back up on shore, gave birth to a fawn
and died. Jada Bharata saved the fawn, raised it, and became very attached to it. At the
time of his death he was thinking of the deer and as a result was reborn as a deer. When
that deer-life ended he was again reborn as a brahmin and attained illumination. See:
Vishnu Purana
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with Swamiji for this, but the Master was never irritated with him. The
Master said, "Nowadays it is hard to find a soul like Naren." Later, when
the Master showed Swamiji forms of gods and goddesses, he began to
believe in them. From then on Swamiji would say, "If one has steadfast
devotion for God, whether with form or without form, one attains
perfection."

Other Reminiscences

Oh, how deep was the Master's devotion to truth! If he happened to say
that he would not eat any more food, he could not eat more, even if he
was hungry. Once he said that he would go to visit Jadu Mantic [whose
garden house was adjacent to the Dakshineswar temple garden] but later
forgot all about it. I also did not remind him. After supper he suddenly
remembered the appointment. It was quite late at night, but he had to go.
I accompanied him with a lantern in my hand. When we reached the
house we found it closed and all apparently asleep. The Master pushed
back the doors of the living room a little, placed his foot inside the room,
and then left.

He could see the inside of a man by merely looking at his face, as
though he were looking through a glass pane. Whenever a visitor came
he would look him over from head to foot, and he would understand
everything. Then he would answer that person's questions.

Even great saints cannot always give up egotism. Swami Bhaskara-
nanda [of Varanasi] showed me his own photograph and said, "See, my
picture is being sold!" But the Master! When Keshab Sen wrote about
him in his paper, the Master forbade him to do so again.

One day the son of a public woman came to Dakshineswar. The Master
was sleeping in his room. The man entered and touched his feet. The
Master at once jumped up, as if someone had thrown fire on him. He
said: "Tell me frankly all the sins you have committed. If you cannot,
then go to the Ganga and say them loudly. You will be freed from them."
But the man was ill-fated and could not do so.

[From: A Guide to Spiritual Life: Spiritual Teachings of Swami
Brahmananda by Swami Chetanananda (St. Louis: Vedanta Society), 1988]
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Swami Adbhutananda

Swami Adbhutananda (?-1920), or Latu Maharaj, was an uneducated,
unsophisticated shepherd boy. From the time he joined the Master at
Dakshineswar until the Master's death, Latu was almost constantly in
attendance on him. Latu's reminiscences of Sri Ramakrishna therefore
have a special value in their wealth of detail and insight.

It was 11 March 1883, Sri Ramakrishna's birthday. The Master asked me
to bring him some water from the Ganga for his bath. He took his bath
with one pitcher of water and afterwards went to the Kali temple. Some
of us had to work in the kitchen. Between one hundred and one hundred
and fifty people had their meal at Dakshineswar on that occasion, and
whatever was left from the meal was distributed to the poor.

Manomohan Babu brought a kirtan party from Konnagar, and the Master
sang with them. Later he asked us to join him in the Panchavati. The
Master told us that day that he was not only a sannyasin [monk], but
king among the sannyasins.

Once while staying at Dakshineswar, Rakhal [Swami Brahmananda]
became sick. The Master told him: "Take this prasad of Lord Jagannath.
Then you will be all right." Such is the effect of the prasad of Jagannath!
You people don't believe that. The Master used to say, "Before you take
your food, eat one or two particles of Jagannath prasad."

On Dashahara day [a special celebration in honour of the Ganga] the
Master asked us to offer worship to the Mother Ganga. He told Rakhal,
"Mother Ganga is a living goddess, and today one should worship her."
At that time Rakhal did not regard the Ganga as a goddess, and as the
Master knew this, he told him: "One day while I was walking near the
embankment of the Ganga, I had a doubt: Is Mother Ganga truly a
goddess? At that moment I heard the distinct sound of a conch coming
from the middle of the river. Gradually the sound came nearer, and I
saw a boy travelling across the water, blowing a conch, and a goddess
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was following him. That vision dispelled all my doubts."! Rakhal was
amazed to hear this and said: "We don't know about such things. We
only know the Ganga as a river of water, befouled by the boatmen."
The Master replied sharply: "Take care! Don't you befoul the Mother
Ganga!" From that day on Rakhal had great respect for the Ganga.

That was also the first year [1883] that I attended the festival at
Panihati with the Master. Rakhal, Bhavanath, and others went in Ram
Babu's carriage. Many other devotees of the Master also attended.
Nava-dwip Goswami was there, and the Master suddenly began to sing
with him. All of us were startled to see the Master go into bhava
samadhi. His breathing stopped; his face, eyes, even the palms of his
hands, reddened. Seeing him in this ecstatic mood, many people rushed
to take the dust of his feet. We were in a dilemma. Everybody wanted to
touch the Master, and though we forbade them, they ignored us. So
there was an uproar.

Ram Babu said to me: "Leto, don't try to stop them. Let the people
touch him and be blessed." But I didn't obey him, for I knew that if just
anybody touched the Master while he was in samadhi, he would ex-
perience terrible pain.

At last, three of us — Rakhal, Bhavanath, and I — escorted him from
the grounds to the parlour. But how difficult it was to resist those
devotees! Even as we headed for the parlour, people continued to touch
his feet. Then do you know what Ram Babu did? He took a handful of
dust from the ground and touched it to the Master's feet and then started
to distribute it among the people. Thus the Master was released from the
crowd.

The following year [actually this visit was in 1885] 1 also went to
Panihati with him. This time we went by boat. Someone asked Holy
Mother [Sri Sarada Devi] to accompany us, but she refused. The Master
praised her for this: "See her wisdom. She refused to go with us so that
no one would make critical comments about us." That year the Master
took prasad with all and danced in ecstasy with both hands raised.

At this same festival the Master was offered five rupees other holy
men received only one or two rupees. [t is an Indian custom to honour a

holy man with gifts.] The Master would not accept the money. The

manager of the festival insisted, however, and secretly gave the money to
Rakhal. With the money Rakhal bought a basket of mangoes and a

package of sweets for the Master. When the Master came to know of it,

he was angry with Rakhal and warned him: "Never do anything like *

This vision of Sri Ramakrishna's corroborates the mythological story of how Bhagirath
brought the Canga from heaven to earth in order to save his departed ancestors.
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that again. Your acceptance means my acceptance. A monk must be like the
birds and not lay things up for the future."

About two months before Durga Puja [the autumn festival of the

goddess Durga] we accompanied the Master to Jadu Mallik's house at
Pathuriaghat [in Calcutta]. Although I had seen Jadu Mallik before in
his garden house [adjacent to the Dakshineswar temple], I had never
been to his home. The Master came to see the new image of the goddess
Simhavahini, who was the presiding deity at Jadu Mallik's house. After
visiting the shrine, the Master asked about Jadu Babu.

Jadu Babu was lying on a marble bench. He greeted the Master: "Welcome,
welcome, young priest. You don't come this way very often anymore. But
since Mother is here now, you have remembered us."

In reply the Master said: "What type of man are you? Mother has come here
and you didn't let me know!"

"Young priest, I have never met a man so well informed about the

Mother as you," replied Jadu Babu. "She arrived just yesterday, and you
have come already. When have I had the time to send the news to you?"

"All right," said the Master, smiling. "Now please ask for some of the

Mother's prasad to be brought. It would not be auspicious if we returned
home without having taken anything." /It is considered inauspicious for a
householder not to offer anything to a holy nian who visits his Izonzel

Still lying on the bench, Jadu Babu ordered someone to bring some

prasad, and that was done instantly. When the Master was ready to

leave, Jadu Babu said, "Won't you say hello to my own mother?"

So the Master shouted: "Hello, Jadu's mother! Will you give me a glass of
water?" Jadu's mother came downstairs with a glass. The Master took it and
sipped from it once.

When the Master returned to the carriage, the devotees said: "Sir, please
don't go to such a rich man's house again. Why should you visit him? He
did not even ask you to be seated. Why should you be subjected to such
insults?"

The Master answered: "These are worldly people, and they are always
desiring worldly things. Yet in between their worldly thoughts they

worship the Mother. You don't even do that much. Why should your
heads ache over whether he did or didn't ask me to sit down? You came
to visit the Mother, and as a bonus you received prasad. Isn't that

enough for you? Who else would have given you prasad at such an

unusual hour? Did you come only to visit Jadu and to be offended

because he did not ask you to be seated?"

The devotees who had spoken against Jadu Babu became silent. Thus the
Master would test us. "If you want to be a sadhu [holy man]," he
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would say, "give up the idea of self-importance. Pay no attention to
whether you are respected or not."

One day the Master told Jadu Babu: "You have saved so much for this
world. What have you acquired for the next?"

Jadu Babu replied: "Young priest, you are the one who will take care of

the other world for me. You will save me at the moment of death, and |

am waiting until then. If you don't grant me liberation, your name '
deliverer of the fallen,' will be marred, so you cannot forget me at my
death."

You see, although Jadu Mallik had plenty of money, he couldn't give up the
desire for more. Another time the Master told him, "Jadu, you have saved so
much money, yet still you want more."

Jadu Babu replied: "That desire will not go. You cannot give up the

desire for God. In the same way, we worldly people cannot give up our
desire for money. Why should I renounce money? You renounce all the
things of the world and yearn for God, while I am a beggar asking for

more and more of his riches. Doesn't worldly wealth also belong to him?

The Master was very pleased to hear this line of argument. "If you maintain
this attitude, you have no need to worry. But tell me, Jadu, are you saying
this sincerely?"
Then Jadu Babu replied, "Young priest, you know that I cannot hide
anything from you."
On another occasion the Master said to Jadu Babu: "You used to chant the
name of God, but now you do not think of him. Why is this?"
Jadu Babu said: "Since I have known you, I don't feel the need to call on
God. And I have found that if I chant the name of the Lord, my mind cannot
concentrate on worldly affairs. So I neglect the Lord in order to look after
my fortune."
"Don't go so far, Jadu," said the Master. "Why must you be like an ox
yoked to a grinding mill?"

"That is the result of my past actions," said Jadu Babu.
The Master taught me a great deal. Sometimes he would purposely send
me to Loren [Swami Vivekananda], so that I would hear about many
things from him. Often the Master would arrange a debate between
Girish Babu [Girish Ghosh] and Loren, but Loren was powerful and not
afraid to challenge anyone. He would argue a lot, and I would report it
all to the Master. Now and then the Master would test me. Once he
asked, "Naren said all this and you kept quiet?"
"What do I know?" was my answer. "How can I compete with Loren?"
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The Master said: "You have heard so many things here /meaning himself]
and you said nothing? You should have told him that if God did not create
this world, then who did?"

"Loren says that this creation is a natural process," I replied.
"Is it possible for nature to create?" the Master said. "If there is an effect,
there must be a cause that preceded it. There is a powerful Being behind this
creation."
Did you know that the Master snatched me from the snares of the world?
I was an orphan. He flooded me with love and affection. If he had not
accepted me, I would have been like an animal, spending all my days
working like a slave. My life would have been worth nothing. I am an
unlettered man. He used to tell me: "Always keep your mind spotless.
Don't allow impure thoughts to enter it. If you find such desires tor-
menting you, pray to God and chant his name. He will protect you. If the
mind still will not remain calm, then go to the temple of the Mother and
sit before her. Or else come here [pointing to himself]. "
Once a devotee at Dakshineswar was behaving badly, and I found it
impossible to check my irritation. I scolded him and he felt very hurt.
The Master knew how the devotee had suffered, and when the devotee
had gone he said to me: "It is not good to speak harshly to those who
come here. They are tormented with worldly problems. If they come here
and then are scolded for their shortcomings, where will they go? In the
presence of holy company never use harsh words to anyone, and never
say anything to cause pain to another."
Do you know what he told me next? "Tomorrow, visit this man and
speak to him in such a way that he will forget what you said to him
today." So the next day I visited him. My pride was humbled. I spoke to
him very sweetly. When I returned, however, the Master asked, "Did
you offer him salutations from me?"
Amazed at his words, I said that I had not. Then he said, "Go to him again
and offer him my salutations."
So again | went to that man and conveyed the Master's salutations. At
this the devotee burst into tears. I was moved to see him weeping.
When [ returned this time the Master said, "Now your misdeed is
pardoned."
One day Girish Ghosh saluted the Master by raising his folded hands to
his forehead. The Master immediately returned the salutation by bowing
from the waist. Girish saluted the Master again. The Master saluted
Girish Babu with an even deeper bow. At last, when Girish Babu
prostrated flat on the ground before him, the Master blessed him. Later
Girish Babu would say: "This time the Lord has come to conquer the
world through prostrations. In his incarnation as Krishna it was the flute;
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as Chaitanya, the Name. But the weapon of his powerful Incarnation this
time is the salutation." The Master used to say: "Learn to be humble. The
ego will be thus removed."
One day Hazra said to the Master: "Gadadhar [another name of Sri
Ramakrishna/, you are not proceeding along the right lines. If you continue
like this, people won't respect you for long. At least show them a little
something! Why not count beads as I do?"
This made the Master laugh. He called Harish, Gopal, and Rakhal and
said to them: "Do you know what advice Hazra is giving me? He is
telling me to start counting beads. But you see, I can't do those things
now. Still, he says that people won't respect me if I don't tell beads. Is
this true?"

"Pay no attention to his words," said Harish. "He is just a fool."
"Don't say that," said the Master. "The Divine Mother is speaking through
him."
Harish was surprised. "What? The Divine Mother speaking through Hazra?
"Yes," answered the Master. "Mother conveys her messages like this."
Nevertheless, Hazra's mind was a bit twisted. While practising japam he
would meditate on worldly things, so he didn't make any progress. But
he escaped the snares of the world by holding onto Loren. It was due to
Loren's insistence that the Master blessed Hazra. After the Master
passed away, Hazra began to think of himself as an avatar even
greater than the Master.
One day Hazra had a desire to massage the Master's feet, but the Master
wouldn't let him. Hazra felt hurt. He left the room and sat outside and
was very morose. At last the Master called him back, and that day only
he served the Master.
On another occasion Hazra wanted to lecture to those who came to the
temple. When they arrived to see the Master, he told them: "Today Sri
Ramakrishna is not here. What will you gain by merely sitting in his room?
Come and listen to what I have to say." But nobody went to him.

Loren was Hazra's bosom friend. He would prepare tobacco for Loren and
have long discussions with him. Loren used to tease him: "Really, you are a
wonderful siddha-purusha [perfect soul]. At last I have found a rare soul
who is constantly telling his beads. Your rosary is very nice  such big,
bright beads. There is none like you."

Then Hazra would swell with pride and tell us: "You people cannot
understand me not even Sr1 Ramakrishna. Only Naren knows me." Just
see his pride. Man falls in this way. He used to chant, "Soham, soham [I am
Brahman]." The Master would tell us: "Don't associate with Hazra.
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Yours is the path of devotion. What will you do with that dry knowl-
edge?"

When I first saw Balaram Babu, I did not recognize him to be a Bengali. He
wore a turban [as is customary with Punjabi Sikhs] and carried a staff, and he
wore a long robe with another cloth over that. He also had a long beard. Now
and then we went to his house. The Master used to say, "Balaram's house is
my Calcutta fort, my parlour."

Balaram Babu arranged for the daily worship of Lord Jagannath in his home.
The Master said that the food there was very pure. I have heard that the
Master visited his home a hundred times and that Balaram Babu maintained a
record of these visits. Balaram Babu also visited Dak-shineswar very often.
The Master once saw him in a vision as a member of a kirtan party led by Sri
Chaitanya.

Balaram Babu would escort the Master to the inner apartments [the women
s quarters] of his home. However, his cousin, Harivallabh Babu, did not
approve. Girish Babu and Harivallabh Babu were close friends, so Girish
Babu heard about it. One day when the Master had come to Balaram Babu'
s home [actually, the Shyampukur house/, Girish Babu called Harivallabh
Babu to come and see the Master. Both of them [the Master and
Harivallabh Babu] started to weep. I could not understand why.
Afterwards I went to see Harivallabh Babu in Cuttack in order to learn the
reason, but he did not disclose it.

Balaram Babu would save money from his household budget and use it
to serve the monks. His relatives thought he was a miser. I never knew
how rich he was! One day, seeing him lying on a narrow bed, I said: "
Why don't you get yourself a larger bed? This one is too narrow for you.
" Do you know what he said? "This earthly body will one day return to
the earth. Why should money be spent for my bed when it can be much
better spent in service to holy people?"

One day Balaram Babu hired a horse carriage for the Master. The fare
from Calcutta to Dakshineswar was only twelve annas [three-fourths of a
rupee], and such a cheap carriage greatly inconvenienced the Master.
One wheel of the carriage came off along the way. The horses did not
behave either. If they were whipped, they ran; otherwise they would not
move. The Master did not reach Dakshineswar until midnight. Later he
would often joke about this incident.

On Kali Puja day the Mother's temple and the chandni [the covered
portico at the temple garden entrance on the river] would be decorated
with lights. Ramlal Dada would come to ask for the Master's blessing
before beginning the worship in the temple. During the day the Master
would stay in his room, visiting the Mother only at night. Music would
be played in the concert tower all night long.

'
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One year Kali Puja fell on a Saturday [an auspicious day for worship-
ping the Divine Mother]. The Master told us: "Practise japam tonight.
Anyone who practises japam on very auspicious nights like this will
soon reach perfection." The Master did not allow us to sleep that night.
He sang until the late hours.

On Jagaddhatri Puja we would go with him to Manomohan Babu's
house. Once a musician there played the drum so beautifully that the
Master went into samadhi.

The Master went to see a yatra [an open-air theatrical performance] at a
devotee's home in the village of Dakshineswar. Baburam, Ramlal Dada,
and I went with him. The main actor was a good person, and he greeted
the Master warmly. The next day the actor came to the Kali temple and
sang many beautiful songs for the Master. Afterwards the Master told
him, "Your life's purpose will be fulfilled through the writing of such
songs." He asked Ramlal Dada to copy the songs.

Another time a yatra party came to the Dakshineswar temple. I watched
the performance all night long. The Master was also there. The story
was of a man who loved a woman so much that he dug a tunnel under
the ground so that he could meet with her. Just see the power of love!
The Master used to say that when three attachments become one, then
God is realized. [That is, when one loves God with the combined force
of the attachment of the chaste wife for her husband, that of a mother for
her child, and that of a rich miser for his wealth, then one is sure to
realize him. ]

Once when the Master was sick, Doctor Mahendranath Paul came to see
him. Before leaving, he gave five rupees to Ramlal Dada for the Master.
The Master did not know this. That night he tossed and turned in bed. I
fanned him for a long time, but still he was restless. Finally he said to
me: "Please call Ramlal. That rascal must have done something —
otherwise, why am I not able to sleep?" It was then one or two o'clock in
the morning. As soon as Ramlal Dada arrived, the Master said: "You
rascal. Go and return that money to the man who gave it to you in my
name." Then Ramlal Dada told the Master the whole story. That very
night I accompanied him to Mahendranath Paul's house, where he roused
the doctor from his sleep and returned the money.

Ram Babu brought a basket of jilipis [an Indian sweet] for the Master
one day, but on his way to Dakshineswar he gave one sweet from the
basket to a young boy. The Master could not eat the jilipis and he told
him, "Never give away a part of anything you bring for me, for then it
cannot be offered to the Divine Mother; and you know that I cannot eat
anything without offering it to the Mother first."
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Some time after the Master hurt his arm, Tarak [Swami Shivananda]
came to Dakshineswar. He brought prasad, holy clay, some holy dust,
and a rosary from Vrindaban for the Master. When he noticed the
bandage on the Master's arm, he asked, "What happened to your arm?"
The Master replied: "I was going to take a look at the moon, when my feet
tripped over a low railing and my arm was broken. The suffering has not
stopped."

"Is it a dislocation or a fracture?" Tarak asked.
"I don't know," said the Master. "These people have simply bandaged
my hand. I like to chant the Mother's name with my mind at ease — but
just see the trouble now. They won't even let me undo the bandage. Is it
possible to call on the Mother in such a painful state? Sometimes I
think, what nonsense this bandage is! Let me break all these bonds and
merge in the Divine. Then again I think, no, this is just another aspect
of the divine play. There is also some joy in this."

Tarak told the Master, "By your mere wish you can be cured."
»What!" exclaimed the Master. "Can I cure myself by only a wish?"
Then he paused a moment and added: "No. Suffering from this affliction
is good, for those who come here with desires will see the condition I am
in and will go away. They won't bother me." Then he said, "Mother, you
played a clever trick." At that he started to sing. Soon he merged into
samadhi.
When Brother Niranjan [Swami Niranjanananda] came to the Master for
the first time, the Master told him: "Look here, my boy. If one does
ninety-nine good turns to a person and one bad, the person remembers
the bad one and forgets the others. But if he does ninety-nine bad turns
to God and one good, the Lord remembers the good one and forgets all
the rest. This is the difference between human love and divine love.
Remember this."

One day the Master touched Brothel Niranjan in ecstasy. Then Niran-jan
could not close his eyes for three days and nights. He had the continuous
vision of light, and he kept chanting the Lord's name. Before coming to
the Master he had been interested in spiritualism and would act as a
medium. The Master teased him: "This time it is not an ordinary spirit
who has possessed you, my boy. The real Divine Spirit has jumped on
your shoulders. Try as you may, you won't be able to get rid of him."

A man came into the Master's room one day and started to talk about
worldly things. The Master said: "This is not the place to talk of such
matters. Please go to the temple manager's office." The man left the
room. Then the Master told me: "Sprinkle the room with water from the
Ganga. That man is a slave to lust and gold. Seven cubits below the spot
where he sat 1s polluted. Sprinkle the water well."
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One day we went with the Master to Bhadrakali [across the Ganga from
Dakshineswar] to hear a scholar speak. The man said such foolish
things, however, that the audience became confused. The Master told
him: "After much fapasya [austerity] a person achieves faith in God; yet
you, a scholar, are creating doubt about him. What type of learning do
you have?"
The scholar replied nervously: "Oh, no, no, sir. I wasn't serious." The
Master understood that the man was merely posing as a great scholar. He
touched the man's body and said: "Your mind has become dry, like a
weather-beaten piece of wood. After reading so many scriptures, have you
learned only to speak hypocrisy?" The scholar was embarrassed and finally
left. The Master used to deal in this way with dry intellectuals.
One day Girish Babu came to Dakshineswar quite drunk. The Master asked
me: "Go and see if he left anything in his carriage. If you find
something, bring it here."
I did as I was told and found a bottle of wine and a glass. I brought both
to the Master. When the devotees saw the wine bottle, they began to
laugh, but the Master said to me: "Keep the bottle for him. He will want
it for a final drink." Just see how liberal the Master was towards his
devotees!
Girish Babu arrived one night with Kalipada Ghosh. Kalipada was a
terrible drunkard. He refused to give money to his family, spending it
for wine instead. But his wife was very pure. I heard that many years
earlier she had come to the Master, seeking some kind of medicine that
would change her husband's tendencies. The Master sent her to Holy
Mother. Holy Mother sent her back to the Master. He again sent her to
Holy Mother, and this exchange went on three times. At last, Holy
Mother wrote the Master's name on a bel leaf that had been offered to
the Lord and gave it to Kalipada's wife, telling her to chant the Lord's
name.
Kalipada's wife chanted the Lord's name for twelve years. When the
Master first met Kalipada, he said, "This man has come here after
tormenting his wife for twelve years." Kalipada was startled, but said
nothing.

Then the Master asked him, "What do you want?"

Kalipada asked shamelessly, "Can you give me a little wine?"
The Master smiled. "Yes, I can. But the wine I have is so intoxicating that
you will not be able to bear it."
Kalipada took him literally and said: "Is it real British wine? Please give me
a little to soak my throat."
"No, it is not British wine," said the Master, still smiling. "It is completely
homemade. This wine cannot be given to just anyone, for not
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everyone can